

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Students' Perceptions of Persistence in Two-Year Radiologic Technology Programs

Billie Jo Huffstetler Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Billie J. Huffstetler

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Danette Brown, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Crystal Lupo, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Mary Lou Morton, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2020

Abstract

Students' Perceptions of Persistence in Two-Year Radiologic Technology Programs

by

Billie J. Huffstetler

MAEd., University of Phoenix, 2012

BS, Central Missouri State University, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

February 2021

Abstract

Obtaining a health care degree benefits individuals and society; however, 2-year radiologic technology programs in a metropolitan area of the southern United States continue to struggle with student persistence from enrollment to graduation. Exploring student persistence is important to college administrators, faculty, and students because of the predicted growth in the profession of radiologic technology. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore students' perceptions of their experiences at the local college that encouraged them to persist to graduation or quit attending. Deci and Ryan's self-determination theory and Bean and Metzner's nontraditional undergraduate attrition model served as the conceptual framework. Two research questions focused on the experiences of 7 students who did not persist and 7 students who persisted from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program. Individual participant interviews were conducted. Data analysis involved open and axial coding and application of the NVivo 12 software package. Findings indicated that (a) financial issues, (b) lack of support, (c) student readiness issues, and (d) personal issues were reasons participants did not persist from enrollment to graduation, whereas (a) autonomy, (b) preparedness, (c) connectedness, and (d) self-efficacy were reasons participants persisted from enrollment to graduation. The findings may promote social change by encouraging higher education institutions to provide resources, support, and active learning environments that increase connectedness and contribute to student persistence from enrollment to graduation.

Students' Perceptions of Persistence in Two-Year Radiologic Technology Programs

by

Billie J. Huffstetler

MAEd., University of Phoenix, 2012

BS, Central Missouri State University, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

February 2021

Dedication

"He who is not courageous enough to take risks will accomplish nothing in life" (Muhammad Ali).

I dedicate my dissertation to my family. To Brad, my wonderful husband, thank you for your patience and your sacrifices during this journey. From the moment I came to you with the idea of getting my doctorate, you have offered constant support. Thank you for believing in me when I did not believe in myself. Your love and encouragement meant the world to me and kept me going on the days I was not sure how I could accomplish this dream. I love you always.

To my precious children, Barrett and Olivia, thank you for your support and understanding during the last few years. I hope I have been an inspiration to you both and have shown you that you can accomplish anything. You both are my heart and I love you.

To my parents, Bill and Bonnie, thank you for believing in me. I appreciate you listening to me always. I hope I have made you proud. I love you both.

To my sister, Shawn, my constant supporter, cheerleader, and counselor. You have been a role model to me from a very young age. I admire your strength and perseverance. You have taught me so much. I will forever be grateful. I love you bunches.

To my friends, thank you for listening to me and encouraging me in pursuit of this degree. I am thankful for your love and support.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my review committee. I want to acknowledge Dr. Danette L. Brown, the chair of my committee. I am truly blessed to have gone through this process with you. Your guidance and encouragement were instrumental in my success. Dr. Brown has touched my life in immeasurable ways, and I am forever grateful for her steadfast support throughout this entire process. To Dr. Lupo, my methodologist, your insight and counsel helped guide me in this process. Also, I want to acknowledge Dr. Morton, my university research reviewer, for your expertise. You challenged me as a writer, and I am thankful you were a part of my journey.

To my colleagues, your encouragement and support helped me to achieve this goal. To Dr. Lori Bequette, my mentor and my biggest champion during my doctoral process, thank you. I am grateful to Cathey Miller, Alisha Jones, and Shannon Sloan who believed in me and provided me with unwavering support. I also want to acknowledge the administrators at the study site and every participant who helped to provide the information for this study. I appreciate your willingness to help me in this study.

List of Tables
List of Figures v
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study
Background
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions
Conceptual Framework
Nature of the Study
Definitions1
Assumptions12
Scope and Delimitations
Limitations13
Significance14
Summary15
Chapter 2: Literature Review10
Literature Search Strategy10
Conceptual Framework
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts
Student Persistence Models: Early Theories
Factors Affecting Student Persistence
Motivation27

Table of Contents

Self-Efficacy	
Autonomy	
Relatedness	
Extrinsic Motivation	
External Regulation	
Introjected Regulation	
Identified Regulation	
Integrated Regulation	
Institutional Factors	
Non-traditional Student Persistence	
Persistence in Higher Education	
Persistence in Health-Related Education	
Summary and Conclusions	50
Chapter 3: Research Method	
Research Design and Rationale	
Role of the Researcher	56
Methodology	57
Participant Selection	
Instrumentation	
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	61
Data Analysis Plan	63
Trustworthiness	64
Ethical Procedures	67

Chapter 4: Results
Setting71
Data Collection75
Data Analysis
Financial Issues
Lack of Support
Student Readiness Issues
Personal Issues
Autonomy
Preparedness
Connectedness
Self-Efficacy
Results
Research Question 1
Research Question 2 103
Evidence of Trustworthiness112
Summary114
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations
Interpretation of the Findings120
Findings and the Literature
Conceptual Framework 126
Limitations of the Study129

Recommendations	130
Recommendations for Future Studies	130
Recommendations for Practice	132
Implications	134
Positive Social Change	134
Implications for Educational Practice	136
Reflections	137
Conclusion	138
References	140
Appendix A: Interview Questions	159
Appendix B: Themes by Research Questions	162

List of Tables

Table 1. Participant Demographics	74
-----------------------------------	----

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Student persistence	themes	.11()
-----------	---------------------	--------	------	---

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Radiologic technology programs seek to attract students with the requisite knowledge and skills to perform well in the classroom, yet these programs struggle with student persistence from enrollment to graduation. In addition to radiologic technology programs, student persistence is also a concern for college administrators (Bergman, Gross, Berry, & Shuck, 2014). Across the United States, persistence rates are decreasing in health care degree programs (Donnell, 2015). Since 2008, the full-time persistence rate for public and private not-for-profit institutions and private for-profit 2-year institutions has been 60% (House & Arnett, 2018). College administrators have employed strategies to improve persistence to graduation in health science programs, such as utilization of selective admission processes to admit the best-qualified applicants; however, persistence rates continue to decline in health care programs in the United States (Donnell, 2015). As student persistence rates in health science programs continue to decrease, a deeper look into the projected growth of health professions, specifically radiologic technology, is needed.

With the increase in the number of baby boomers retiring from medical imaging jobs and the increase in life expectancy, there is a growing need for radiologic technologists in health care. In the state of the study site institution, the projected growth in the profession of radiologic technology from 2019 to 2026 is 16.2% (United States Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2018). The predicted growth in the profession of radiologic technology in the United States from 2016 to 2026 is 12.3%, faster than the average of all occupations (United States Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2018). Exploring student

persistence from enrollment to graduation in radiologic technology programs is important to meet the projected workforce needs. As health care gaps negatively impact the most vulnerable citizens, there are strong positive social change implications for increasing student persistence from enrollment to graduation.

As the number of graduates increases and these individuals transition into medical facilities to work, they can assist with the medical needs of others. Graduates who are hired to work in the communities in which they trained have a more disciplined and structured approach to quality patient care and employee engagement (Gabow, 2016). Gabow (2016) stressed the importance of consistent training in a standard protocol for care for students and as they transition into the role of a health care professional. Additionally, graduating with a degree in radiologic technology would help the individual with financial independence. The social change implications of improved quality patient care, employee engagement, and financial independence are important on both a local and global level and reinforce the importance of student persistence from enrollment to graduation in radiologic technology programs.

Chapter 1 includes information regarding persistence rates of students enrolled in 2-year radiologic technology programs in the United States, as well as the state in which the study was conducted, and the limited amount of research previously conducted on the topic of student persistence from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs. Chapter 1 also includes the problem, purpose, research questions, conceptual framework, nature of the study, definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and significance of the study.

Background

Student persistence has been a topic of research for many decades. However, the recent mandates from the United States government concerning institutional effectiveness and student persistence to graduation require higher education institutions to take an active role in increasing student retention. The United States government has created policies to address structural flaws within higher education systems and incentivized institutions to focus on student outcomes, including student persistence to graduation (U.S. Department of Education, 2015). The pressure for increased accountability for student outcomes was placed on accrediting agencies to focus on student outcomes, raise the bar for quality, and increase transparency (U.S. Department of Education, 2015).

In Draft 1 of the 2021 Standards for Radiography programs, the Joint Review Committee on Education in Radiologic Technology (JRCERT, 2017) proposed a 3-year persistence rate of 80%. If programs do not adhere to stated persistence policies, future funding and accreditation could be negatively affected. This national trend toward performance funding within higher education means that a portion of state funds to public colleges and universities are based on student persistence and outcomes as opposed to the more traditional budget model that utilizes incremental or cost-based increases (Hearn, 2015). The implementation of this policy has been fueled by concerns over inadequate student retention and completion rates, increasing college costs and student debt levels, and economic recessions that have resulted in fiscal scarcity and fueled calls for accountability (Li & Zumeta, 2016). Research pertinent to student persistence in radiologic technology programs is limited (Menser, 2015). However, with the strengthening pressures from performance-based funding, all institutions must actively participate in finding solutions to increase student persistence from enrollment to graduation.

A review of the research revealed that research on student persistence in radiologic technology programs is limited, adding to the relevance of this study. According to Trusclair (2017), few researchers have focused on what motivates the allied health student population and its relationship with student persistence. Menser and Hughey (2016) studied selective versus nonselective admission practices of radiologic technology programs. Menser and Hughey compared the radiologic technology programs' use of interviews, high school and previous college grade point average (GPA), and the completion of prerequired coursework in relation to student persistence. Menser and Hughey concluded that the use of prerequisite courses as admission criteria was positively related to student persistence to program completion. However, Ingrassia (2016) concluded that radiologic technology students' persistence cannot be predicted using common admission criteria alone, supporting the need for additional research. Dawson (2017) examined predictors of educational attainment and clinical persistence of minority radiologic technology students; however, this study was focused on students' perceptions about their ability to adjust and become comfortable with their role within clinical affiliates. Increased understanding of student persistence in radiologic technology programs may provide higher education institutions with valuable information that could help them anticipate student needs and allocate the necessary resources. Higher education leaders lack an understanding of the underlying reasons for decreased student persistence

(Bergman et al., 2014). In addition, there are new governmental policies that increase institutional accountability for student success. The gap in practice is the lack of understanding of student persistence from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs. The current study was needed to improve understanding of student persistence and assist higher education institutions with improving persistence from enrollment to graduation, which may positively impact the institution, student, and community.

Problem Statement

Higher education institutions are challenged to understand why some students persist and why other students do not persist to graduation. Nationally, graduation rates at all 2-year higher education institutions are declining (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018). Student retention in public and private 2-year institutions is well documented. The JRCERT (2019b) reported that the average persistence of students enrolled in accredited radiologic technology programs in the United States is approximately 70% annually. However, the average persistence of students enrolled in 2year JRCERT accredited programs in the local area is approximately 60% (JRCERT, 2019b). At the local study site, student persistence in the 2-year radiologic technology program is below the national average for these programs, revealing a gap in practice. In addition to the decreased student persistence from enrollment to graduation, the local study site is adjusting to the changing health care environment.

Health care is evolving as it adjusts to the mandates required by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and to the aging population. Approximately 10,000 Americans turn 65 years old each day, making them eligible for Medicare and retirement (Ezequiel, 2016). "As a result, the number of Medicare enrollees will increase from its current 54 million to more than 80 million by 2030, when 20% of the U.S. population will be aged 65 years or older" (Ezequiel, 2016, p. 242). As the population ages, the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (2018) indicated an increased need for diagnostic imaging to help make medical diagnoses. To provide the health care community with skilled professionals to assist with imaging needs and to address the projected radiology workforce shortage, student persistence in radiologic technology programs is critical.

The specific problem addressed in the current study was student persistence from enrollment to graduation at the local college in a metropolitan area of the southern United States. To meet the needs of the changing health care environment (Demo, Fry, Devine, & Butler, 2015; Jantzen, 2019) and to maintain accreditation standards (JRCERT, 2019a), exploration of student persistence is needed to increase the overall graduation rates. Although previous studies have been conducted using admission criteria to predict student success and persistence in radiologic technology programs (Ingrassia, 2016; Menser & Hughey, 2016), there have been no studies on the subjective experiences of students regarding persistence; however, they did not identify reasons for decreased persistence or strategies to increase persistence from enrollment to graduation. A qualitative approach was needed to fill this gap. The subjective experience of persistence may enhance the current knowledge as it relates to the radiologic technology student population.

Purpose of the Study

Higher education institutions have struggled with student persistence for decades. Although researchers have studied student persistence at 4-year institutions and community colleges, 2-year institutions are also challenged with this problem. The purpose of this study was to explore how students describe their perceptions of experiences at the local college that either encouraged them to persist to graduation or quit attending in a metropolitan area of the southern United States. By conducting this qualitative study, my intent was to explore what impediments may influence students to drop out of radiologic technology programs while providing useful information to higher education leaders to improve their understanding of student persistence from enrollment to graduation. Improved understanding of student persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs may lead to the development of effective persistence strategies that may help to ensure the projected radiology workforce needs are met.

Research Questions

The research questions for this study guided the exploration of student experiences relating to concepts of motivation and success in Deci and Ryan's (1985) self-determination theory because they support student persistence. The following research questions (RQs) were designed to promote understanding of student persistence from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States: RQ1: What are the students' perceptions of why they did not persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States?

RQ2: What are the students' perceptions of what helped them persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was Bean and Metzner's (1985) nontraditional undergraduate student attrition model and the self-determination theory of Deci and Ryan (1985). Bean and Metzner's model for student retention was important to this study due to the population of students to which it refers. Bean and Metzner defined non-traditional students as "(a) older than 24 years, (b) do not live in a campus residence, and (c) a part-time student, or some combination of these factors" (p. 492). Nontraditional students, as defined by Bean and Metzner, align with the characteristics of 2year radiologic technology students.

Non-traditional students continue to make up the majority of the student population within higher education. The U.S. Department of Education's 2017 report on student demographics in 2-year institutions indicated that 67% of the students were female, 52.5% were age 24 or older, 23% were first-generation college students, and over 65% were independent students who supported themselves (Arbeit, Horn, National Center for Education Statistics (ED), & RTI International, 2017). Non-traditional students face the challenges of balancing the demands of college, family, and work obligations.

The second part of the conceptual framework of this study was Deci and Ryan's (1985) self-determination theory. The self-determination theory is a theory of human motivation and personality that focuses on three psychological needs: (a) autonomy, (b) competence, and (c) relatedness (Deci & Ryan, 1985). This theory was important to the study because it addresses intrinsic and extrinsic student factors. Because my study focused on subjective experiences of persistence, the self-determination theory provided the appropriate platform in which to frame the study. The use of Bean and Metzner's (1985) non-traditional undergraduate student attrition model and the self-determination theory of Deci and Ryan helped me gain an understanding of the external environment, internal motivations, and choices made by the participants regarding their persistence efforts. Aspects of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation were addressed in the research questions. The data were collected and organized in a manner that conclusions could be drawn regarding how the external environment and/or internal motivation affects student persistence from enrollment to graduation. Chapter 2 includes additional information on the chosen framework and how each was applied in the research questions and data analysis.

Nature of the Study

The nature of this research was a basic qualitative study. Gaining an understanding of the attitudes, beliefs, and perceptions through the insights of others is the basis of qualitative research (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Generally related to social

constructivism, a basic qualitative design is used to construct knowledge through the complexities of human experiences, and individuals create learning through their interactions (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Mihas (2019) identified basic qualitative research as the preferred approach when trying to "solve a problem, effect a change, or identify relevant themes" (para. 1). Ravitch and Carl (2016) suggested that the sample size can be as small as one and data collection involves voice interviews, observation, and/or archival data. However, with relatively homogenous groups, 16 or fewer interviews are enough to identify common themes (Hagaman & Wutich, 2016). Because the current study included participants who attended the same program, I interviewed a minimum of 14 participants. The participants consisted of previous students who did not persist and previous students who persisted from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States during the years 2014-2019. In this basic qualitative study, I addressed the gap in practice by providing an in-depth understanding of student perceptions of their experiences regarding persistence from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program.

A basic qualitative approach provided an opportunity to conduct empirical inquiry into student persistence in a 2-year radiologic technology program. Interviews contributed to the understanding of participants and a wider culture (Holloway & Galvin, 2016). Applying high standards to the interview process helped to capture the reality of the participants' perceptions, experiences, and descriptions of student persistence in a 2year radiologic technology program (Holloway & Galvin, 2016). Previous students who did not persist to graduation and those who did persist to graduation were asked to self-report explanations for their persistence. The data were analyzed in relation to each research question. I manually coded the data from the audio-recorded transcripts and used NVivo 12 software to identify themes. To increase reliability and decrease bias, I was transparent in the manual coding process and used NVivo 12 software for theme identification. After manually coding each transcript, I used NVivo to maintain transparency, attain consistency of identified categories and themes, and reach meaningful findings with visual representations. Addressing the gap in practice and research regarding the student perspective on persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs added to the limited research, strengthened current knowledge, and may encourage future studies on student persistence in allied health educational programs.

Definitions

Enrollment: To register or enter a higher education institution or program of study as a participant (Narayan, 2011).

Graduation: The process of receiving a degree for completing a formal education program (Selingo, 2012).

Joint Review Committee on Education in Radiologic Technology (JRCERT): The organization recognized by the United States Department of Education and the Council for Higher Education Accreditation for the accreditation of traditional and distance delivery educational programs in radiography, radiation therapy, magnetic resonance, and medical dosimetry (JRCERT, 2019a).

Radiologic technology: Term applied to the allied health profession that uses ionizing radiation (x-ray) to produce an image (American Registry of Radiologic Technologists, 2019).

Student persistence: Continued enrollment or degree completion at any institution (National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2017).

Assumptions

The higher education institution that served as the study site was chosen due to its location, student population, and offering of a 2-year radiologic technology program. The first assumption was that all participants would provide honest and accurate responses to the interview questions and make every effort to provide rich, thick descriptions of their experiences. Throughout the study, I assumed the research would be conducted with integrity. Lastly, I assumed that the questions drawn from my experience and research of the existing literature would be pertinent for understanding the phenomenon.

Scope and Delimitations

The setting for this study was a 2-year higher education institution in a metropolitan area in the southern United States. Although radiologic technology programs are offered in 4-year institutions, a 2-year institution was chosen due to the format in which classes and clinical overlap. In 4-year institutions, most radiologic technology program curricula consist of two years of general education courses before moving into the core curriculum classes. However, at the 2-year institutions, students often take general education courses in conjunction with radiologic technology didactic classes and radiologic technology clinical classes. The sample size was limited to 7-9

students who persisted and 7-9 students who did not persist from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program during the 2014-2019 academic years. This sample size was adequate for the interviews that were used to collect data. Creswell and Creswell (2018) stated that the goal of qualitative researchers should be the attainment of saturation and recommended 5-25 participants. Focus groups were not included in this study due to lack of time and resources to collect additional data. The interviews allowed for collection of rich data; therefore, focus groups were not needed for this study. The population chosen for this study was students who persisted and did not persist in a 2-year radiologic technology program because they would provide subjective and personal experiences regarding persistence. Focusing on student experiences provided a different perspective on student persistence compared to previous studies.

Limitations

One of the potential limitations for this study was researcher bias. My personal experiences with student persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs could have interfered with understanding and accurately representing the beliefs and interpretations of participants (see Galdas, 2017). To reduce bias, I had no affiliation with the study site other than that of researcher. Establishing informed consent, journaling, and using approved interview questions helped decrease bias in the study. To increase credibility, interview transcripts were used to document participant answers to the research questions. Meticulous record keeping, including rich and thick verbatim descriptions of participants' experiences, was used to ensure interpretations of data were consistent and transparent (see Noble & Smith, 2015). I used audio recordings and

transcript summarization to increase dependability. As stated by Amankwaa (2016), methods of data collection that provide an audit trail are desired because they increase dependability of the study. For the current study, audio recordings and transcript summarization were utilized.

Faculty and higher education administrators were not interviewed in this study; therefore, limiting institutional information on their experiences with student persistence. However, the subjects in this study addressed institutional factors related to student persistence. Qualitative study results are not intended for generalizability; however, information about the study site, student population, and radiologic technology program may provide readers with the knowledge to determine the transferability of the results to their own experiences and settings (see Leung, 2015).

Significance

The results of this research contributed to the body of knowledge on student persistence from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs. Application of findings may lead to improved levels of persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs in a metropolitan area of the southern United States and may inform instructors and administrators in similar community college settings across the United States. This study may promote positive social change by providing ways to better support student success. The findings may be used for training purposes for academic leaders and instructors and as a basis for future studies on student persistence in radiologic technology programs.

Summary

Chapter 1 included an introduction of the problem of student persistence in health care programs, specifically a 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States, and literature about similar settings across the United States. Persistence strategies utilized by some programs, such as selective admission processes, were identified; however, persistence rates continue to decline while the projected growth in the profession continues to grow. Chapter 1 also included the background on the history of radiologic technology student persistence research, accreditation accountability, student persistence rates in local radiologic technology programs in 2017, and the changing health care environment.

The problem addressed was the declining persistence rates in 2-year radiologic technology programs and the need to increase the overall graduation rate of this population of students due to increasing demand for imaging professionals in the health care environment. The purpose was to explore student persistence from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs in a metropolitan area of the southern United States. Chapter 2 provides a review and analysis of relevant literature to identify what scholars understand about student persistence and what future research needs to address.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this literature review is to discuss student persistence as it relates to successful completion of radiologic technology courses in 2-year colleges and ultimately graduation from the program. According to the American Registry of Radiologic Technologists (2019), radiologic technologists make up the third largest group of health care professionals, surpassed in number only by physicians and nurses. The United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (2018) anticipated that the profession of radiologic technology would expand by 16.2% between 2019 and 2026, adding millions of new jobs. The shortage of radiologic technologists will present a major challenge to rural and urban areas of the United States. Current literature on student persistence in radiologic technology programs has been limited to admission criteria (Menser & Hughey, 2016); however, Ingrassia (2016) concluded that student persistence cannot be predicted using admission criteria alone. Therefore, the student persistence from enrollment to graduation in radiologic technology programs is pertinent to the local study site as well as higher education institutions across the United States (Demo et al., 2015). The literature review provides details concerning the framework that underpins the study, including student persistence models and factors affecting student persistence; institutional factors, non-traditional student persistence, persistence in higher education, and persistence in health-related education are also addressed.

Literature Search Strategy

To gather relevant sources to review, I searched the following databases: ERIC, ProQuest, Academic Search Complete, Google Scholar, SAGE Journals, American

Society of Radiologic Technology Radiologic Technology Journals, Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, Sociology of Education, Review of Higher Education, Review of Educational Research, The Journal of Higher Education, The Journal of Continuing Higher Education, and Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice. The following keywords were used to search these databases: college persistence, persistence in higher education, student persistence in radiologic technology programs, student persistence in allied health programs, community college persistence, non-traditional student persistence, student retention, higher education retention, community college retention, student retention in radiologic technology programs, and student retention in allied health programs. As terminology has evolved throughout the decades, I used multiple search terms to find student persistence literature. I began with a generic search of ERIC, ProQuest, Academic Search Complete, Google Scholar, SAGE Journals using the keywords student retention, higher education retention, community college retention, college persistence, and persistence in higher education. The broad search strategy provided articles and dissertations on student persistence; however, most of the information was more than 5 years old and did not pertain to radiologic technology programs. I expanded my search of these databases by including the keywords student retention in radiologic technology programs and persistence in radiologic technology programs. This search yielded only a few current research articles. I limited the search to the American Society of Radiologic Technology Radiologic Technology Journals and found only two recent articles on student persistence in radiologic technology programs. Because the research was limited on

student persistence in radiologic technology programs, I expanded my search using the keywords *student retention in allied health programs* and *student persistence in allied health programs*. The findings from these searches were focused on nursing education, physical therapy education, and respiratory education. However, some of the research helped to inform additional areas of health care education concerns regarding projected workforce shortages.

Some of the research focused on the non-traditional student within higher education. I again searched ERIC, ProQuest, Academic Search Complete, Google Scholar, SAGE Journals using the keywords *non-traditional student persistence* and found several research articles. Continuing to use the same keywords, I searched the following journals: *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *Sociology of Education, Review of Higher Education, Review of Educational Research, The Journal of Higher Education, The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, and *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice.* Again, the keywords *student retention in radiologic technology programs* and *student persistence in radiologic technology programs* produced limited results. The lack of research on student persistence of additional research in this area of higher education.

Conceptual Framework

A conceptual framework is vital in illustrating the significance of a research topic. Ravitch and Carl (2016) described the conceptual framework as "a means of explaining why your topic is important practically and theoretically as well as detailing how your methods will answer your research questions" (p. 35). The conceptual framework of a study allows the researcher to learn from previous research while integrating new knowledge. For the current study, Bean and Metzner's (1985) non-traditional undergraduate student attrition model and the self-determination theory of Deci and Ryan (1985) provided the conceptual frameworks. Bean and Metzner's model for student retention was important to this study due to the population of students to which it refers. Bean and Metzner defined non-traditional students as "(a) older than 24 years, (b) do not live in a campus residence, and (c) a part-time student, or some combination of these factors" (p. 492). The self-determination theory (Deci & Ryan, 1985) states that individuals have three basic needs: (a) autonomy, (b) competence, and (c) relatedness. This conceptual model can be applied to many different situations and settings.

The non-traditional undergraduate student attrition model has been used in several studies. Researchers have used this framework to study student attrition in community colleges (Mason, 1998; Summers, 2003) while others have used it to study student retention and the influence of internal and external factors (Naretto, 1995). Su and Waugh (2018) used this conceptual framework to study online student persistence or attrition. These studies represent a small portion of the researchers who have used Bean and Metzner's (1985) model for student retention; however, it continues to be a consistent model used in research.

Ryan and Deci's (1985) self-determination theory has been applied to a variety of study topics including family relationships (Grolnick, Deci, & Ryan, 1997; Prentice, Jayawickreme, & Fleeson, 2018), work settings (Gagne & Deci, 2005; Howard, Gagne, & Morin, 2016), and education (Dulfer, Rice, & Clarke, 2017; Huang, Backman, Backman, McGuire, & Moore, 2019; Reeve, 2002). Conducting qualitative research using both conceptual frameworks was intended to provide a more holistic view of student persistence.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts Student Persistence Models: Early Theories

Student persistence has been a major concern for educational institutions and educators since the 1600s (Aljohani, 2016). Prior to the 1970s, theorists referred to student persistence as student attrition and focused on individual student characteristics with no regard to student interactions with college environments (Bayer, 1968; Campbell & Fiske, 1959; Feldman & Newcomb, 1969; Marks, 1967; Marsh, 1966; Panos & Astin, 1968; Summerskill, 1962). These studies were grounded in psychology, not sociology, which provided data reflective of the individual rather than the society. Beginning in the late 1960s and early1970s, the terminology changed to student retention with a focus on the student-college relationship (Bean, 1980; Spady, 1970, 1971; Terenzini & Pascarella, 1977; Tinto, 1975). This sociological approach to student retention combined the academic and social systems, and was more inclusive and representative of society.

Spady's undergraduate dropout process model. Spady (1970) identified two different definitions of student retention that required two different research approaches. The first definition of retention involved individuals who leave an institution of higher education where they are registered (Spady, 1970). The second definition referred to those individuals who never receive a degree (Spady, 1970). In addition to these

definitions, Spady recognized a distinction between those who are forcibly dismissed from an institution for academic or disciplinary reasons and for those who voluntarily withdraw. For individuals who are academically unsuccessful or who are dismissed for disciplinary reasons, predictive models and equations looking at GPA can be directly applied (Spady, 1970). Spady concluded that a more complex predictive model is needed when analyzing why a student chooses to withdraw from a college or university.

Spady's (1970) undergraduate dropout process model was developed using Parson's four function paradigm: (a) latent pattern-maintenance, (b) integration, (c) adaption, and (d) goal attainment. Spady's conceptual model implied temporal order and depicted the assumed direct causal connections between pairs of variables. "Spady's path model suggested the result of the entire model may lead to changes in students' attitudes, interest, goals, or motivations that will have either positive or negative effects at later stages of the college or university career" (Kerby, 2015, p. 147). One of the first attempts to move toward an interdisciplinary approach to understanding student retention rates that involves individual student interaction and the higher education environment was Spady's undergraduate dropout process model. The theory assumes that students operate within the academic system and the social system. As students are challenged academically and exposed to external influences, the systems impact them differently; the academic system measures success by grades whereas attitudes, interests, and personality dispositions that align with the higher education institution are measures of success in the social system (Spady, 1970). Spady's undergraduate dropout process model linked student retention rates to "intellectual development, social integration, satisfaction, and

institutional commitment" (p. 76). The undergraduate dropout process model (Spady, 1970) depends on two assumptions: (a) that one's satisfaction with the college experience will depend on the available social and academic rewards and (b) that sustaining one's commitment to the college requires both integration into the system and a sufficient number of positive rewards, either academic or social. Spady's use of sociological approach to research provided valuable information on student retention within higher education.

Tinto's theory of student retention. Although Spady's (1970) undergraduate dropout process model described the processes that brought individuals to leave institutions of higher education, Tinto (1975) concluded that the model lacked explanation of these processes. Building upon Spady's conceptual model for student retention, Tinto agreed that it was not uncommon for research on student retention to fail to distinguish between academic or disciplinary dismissal and voluntary withdrawal. Because colleges and universities comprise academic and social systems, Tinto stated the importance of distinguishing between normative and structural academic integration of the college or university and that of the social domain. Therefore, Tinto's theoretical model of student retention included individual characteristics and dispositions relevant to student retention. Tinto (as cited in Kerby, 2015) suggested that researchers not only include background characteristics of individuals, but also the individual expectations and motivational attributes of individuals. Tinto's model of student retention is a longitudinal model in which the withdrawal process from an institution of higher education is derived from interactions between academic and social systems. Burke

(2019) identified that a student must have an unquestionable level of commitment to personal goals to continue to be motivated and persist in an academic system. However, a certain level of institutional commitment must also be demonstrated by a student, typically shown through school pride and social network (Burke, 2019). When a student's personal goals and institutional commitment are combined, the result is a positive decision to persist in their educational endeavors.

Until 2012, Tinto's (1975) theory of student retention was referred to as the "theory of student departure," "interactive model of student departure," and "integration theory." Tinto's theory of student retention has spanned several decades and is one of the most widely used frameworks concerning student retention. Tinto's theory has experienced widespread use because it addresses the relationships between students and their college experiences. Individuals enter a college or a university with a variety of attributes, experiences, and family backgrounds, all of which directly and indirectly impact academic performance. Tinto's and Spady's (1970) research set the stage for future research on predictive models in the retention of students within higher education.

Some researchers have identified deficits in Tinto's theory including the lack of student diversity in the research. The original research by Tinto included mainly White college students attending 4-year institutions. Pascarella and Terenzini (2005) contended that Tinto's theory of student retention cannot be applied across races and ethnicities. Tinto's (1975) theory emphasizes the concept of academic and social integration as a key to increasing student retention regardless of race or gender. Academic integration connects the student to the educational institution while social integration helps the
student feel connected with others. Although Tinto's theory of student retention has received both accolades and criticism, it is known as the foundational theory for student retention.

Bean's student attrition model. Continuing to build off predecessors' research on student retention, Bean (1980) sought to explain why students withdraw from institutions of higher education. Bean's (1980) student attrition model was different from previous predictive models for student retention because Bean concluded the motivations for student departure from a college or university are similar to the motivations seen in an employee unsatisfied with their career or employer (Kinsey, 2017). Bean substituted variables such as GPA, student development, and career relevance and in a revised version of the model that included a set of four additional variables: (a) background, (b) organizational, (c) environmental, and (d) attitudinal. Bean (1983) found that institutional factors played the most influential role in student retention.

Bean and Metzner's non-traditional undergraduate student attrition model.

Bean's (1983) student attrition model helped to increase knowledge regarding student retention in higher education; however, the research was limited to traditional students. Traditional students were defined as students attending a 2- or 4-year college or university full-time, age 18-23, and living on the campus of the institution they attend. Non-traditional students were defined as students attending a 2- or 4-year college or university part-time, age 24 and older, and living off campus or commuting. Bean and Metzner's (1985) non-traditional student attrition model included four sets of variables: (a) academic performance, (b) intent to leave, (c) background, and (d) environmental factors. Because previous student retention research indicated the importance of institutional integration and culture building with traditional students, environmental and external factors were the main factors in the retention of non-traditional students.

Cabrera, Nora, and Castaneda's integrated model of student retention. While early theorists researched student retention and attrition in higher education, the focus began to switch to student persistence in the 1990s and 2000s (Kinsey, 2017). Persistence was historically defined as students consistently enrolled in a higher education institution, whereas attrition pertained to the loss of students from the institution before the completion of their program of study (Manyanga, Sithole, & Hanson, 2017). Persistence was defined as an individual student successfully fulfilling specific course requirements leading to graduation (Manyanga et al., 2017). Tinto's (1973) and Bean's (1980) theories focused on students departing from higher education institutions and provide a comprehensive framework in student retention and attrition; however, no efforts had been made to merge these two models to enhance knowledge and understanding of why students stay, or persist, in higher education institutions.

Cabrera, Nora, and Castaneda (1993) researched student persistence using an inclusive approach, merging the models of Tinto (1975) and Bean (1980), and creating the integrated model of student retention. Each model brings a different perspective to what affects student persistence the most, and Cabrera et al. expanded the research by providing a more holistic view on student persistence. There is considerable overlap between the two models; however, Cabrera et al. also tested all non-overlapping propositions underlying both conceptual frameworks. The results indicated that when the

two theories were merged into one integrated model, a more comprehensive understanding of the relationship among individual, environmental, and institutional factors was achieved.

The self-determination theory of student persistence. As research on student persistence continued into the 21st century, Chen and Jang (2010) used the theory of self-determination (Ryan & Deci, 2000) to study student persistence in online and distance learning. The underpinning of the self-determination theory is that individuals have three basic needs: (a) autonomy, (b) competence, and (c) relatedness. Using student motivation as the key driver in the research, Chen and Jang found that when the three basic needs of individuals were met, students experienced a heightened sense of self and increased potential for growth. Kinsey (2017) reviewed Chen and Jang's research on student motivation and concurred that supporting the individual's three basic needs positively affected their self-determination. Cheng and Jang concluded that as the student's self-determination increased, student persistence also increased.

Factors Affecting Student Persistence

For decades, researchers have studied student persistence from many different perspectives. Early theorists studied individual student characteristics as they related to persistence, looking at the student independent from the educational environment (Bayer, 1968; Campbell & Fiske, 1959; Feldman & Newcomb, 1969; Marks, 1967; Marsh, 1966; Panos & Astin, 1968; Summerskill, 1962). Beginning in the early 1970s, theorists began studying the relationships between the student and the higher education institution (Bean, 1980; Spady, 1970, 1971; Terenzini & Pascarella, 1977; Tinto, 1975). Throughout the research, theorists identified various factors related to student persistence. Student motivations and institutional factors are some of the most noted factors pertaining to student persistence in higher education.

Motivation

Motivation is defined as "the process that initiates, guides, and maintains goaloriented behavior" (Cherry, 2019, para. 1). The term motivation is used to describe 'why' a person does something. Motivation is multifaceted as it involves biological, emotional, social, and cognitive forces that initiate behavior (Cherry, 2019). Motivation is reflective of an individual student and cannot be generalized to a population of students. Rizkallah and Seitz (2017) studied motivation and student retention reflecting the duration of students' academic careers. During their research, they examined the dependent variables of satisfaction and motivation in relation to student retention in higher education. Over 500-students from three south-western universities participated in the study. Rizkallah and Seitz concluded that from year to year, changes occur in the needs, problems, and aspirations of students, as well as what motivates them and satisfies their needs. As quantitative research is commonly conducted to study student persistence (Fong, Acee, & Weinstein, 2018), a qualitative approach is invaluable to persistence research. Examining correlational and predictive factors for student persistence provided by variable-centered research is critical; however, it is also important to use prescriptive measures that assess students' personal qualities affecting success and persistence (Fong et al., 2018). In a study of 768 students within a southwestern community college, Fong et al. (2018) utilized a person-centered approach to identify distinct motivational and academic

profiles that predict student success. The diverse population of participants was assessed on their individual perceptions of motivation toward goal orientation, help-seeking, and persistence, while student achievement was determined by individual GPAs. The results of the study highlighted the importance of students' noncognitive traits and personal qualities.

When focused on the student, instructors can better identify their needs and adapt teaching styles to meet these needs. As students' needs change, instructors should continue to meet students' needs to foster success and persistence (Fong et al., 2018). Dumke, Tyndall, Naff, Crowder, and Cauley (2018) explored student perceptions of motivational and contextual factors as promoters of success in a 4-year university. Dumke's et al. qualitative research on high-achieving pre-health care students and the effect of psychological factors and motivation on student success and persistence adds to the empirical reports about the importance of motivational factors in success and persistence within higher education. The participants in Dumke et al.'s study did not emphasize natural gifts talents or intelligence as keys to success and persistence. Instead, the motivational factors of grit, mindsets, and mastery goals were identified as keys to success and persistence (Dumke et al., 2018). Motivational factors have been studied extensively over the years. These factors stand out as important considerations regarding student persistence.

As motivation is dependent on the person (Cherry, 2019), intrinsic and extrinsic factors provide valuable insight as to why a person behaves in a certain manner. Intrinsic motivation is defined as internal to the person and promotes them to engage in behavior

they find personally rewarding. Sass, Castro-Villarreal, Wilkerson, Guerra, and Sullivan (2018) studied the psychosocial variables of academic efficacy, connectedness to professors, and connectedness to college and its relationship to student persistence in a 4year university. Sass et al. determined that a student's generation status, Pell grant eligibility, and SAT scores did not directly or indirectly predict connectedness or academic success; however, they did identify that psychosocial variables play an important role in predicting student success and persistence. Academic self-efficacy has the strongest effect on academic outcomes (Sass et al., 2018), which is important for success and persistence in higher education. As a student's perceived academic selfefficacy increased, so did their problem-solving skills. Additionally, the results also revealed student connectedness to professors and the college indirectly affected student persistence. A direct relationship existed between connectedness to professors and college and intent to remain enrolled in a higher education institution (Sass et al., 2018). To support a student's need for increased internal motivation, Sass et al. recommended higher education curricula contain activities related to problem-solving which will support continued positive growth in academic self-efficacy. Ryan and Deci (1985, 2000) determined that students must meet the three psychological needs of competence or selfefficacy, autonomy, and relatedness in order to enhance his or her motivation, engagement, and general well-being. An individual's feelings of competence must also be accompanied by a sense of autonomy in order to increase intrinsic motivation (Ryan & Deci, 1985, 2000). Relatedness is essential for internalization and considered to be a strong motivator when coupled with a sense of autonomy (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Dulfer,

Rice, and Clarke (2017) asserted:

Creating education settings which meets a student's need for autonomy, competence, and relatedness will increase the internalization of positive higher education related behaviors, sense of relatedness between students and academic staff, student engagement, student motivation, student initiative, and improve the students learning outcomes. (p. 44)

The interacting relationship between these factors imply all three of these psychological needs must be met to foster a student's motivation, general well-being, and increase persistence within higher education settings (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

Han, Farruggia, and Moss (2017) conducted a quantitative study examining noncognitive factors of perceived academic self-efficacy, sense of belonging, and academic motivation along with academic performance and first-to-second-year retention in an urban research university. The results of this study revealed that academic selfefficacy, or competence, was more closely associated with academic performance, whereas belonging, or relatedness, was more closely associated with persistence. Therefore, the importance of autonomy, competence, and relatedness for motivation and engagement within higher education is significant.

Self-Efficacy

The belief in oneself to succeed, or self-efficacy, is a highly recognized intrinsic motivator for student persistence (Bandura, 1997; Conefrey, 2018; Sogunro, 2015). Using an exploratory mixed method research design, Sogunro (2015) studied over 200 adult learners to identify motivating factors for success. Through the utilization of focus

groups, important themes were identified. Autonomy was listed as one of the top factors in motivation; however, the relationship between autonomy and level of self-efficacy was noted. Students with higher levels of autonomy were likely to exhibit higher levels of self-efficacy and higher levels of motivation toward academic success and persistence (Sogunro, 2015). Conefrey (2018) conducted a qualitative case study of some of the issues faced by incoming first-generation college students at a private, 4-year institution in the northwest United States. The findings suggest that the cumulative impact of engaging students in multiple high-impact practices, which promote meaningful interaction and collaboration with others, improve academic success. In addition, these activities supported an increase in students' academic self-efficacy and their institutional commitment. As a consequence of their increased self-efficacy and engagement, students are more likely to experience better academic success, leading to increased persistence.

Academic self-efficacy and social self-efficacy beliefs are pertinent in student persistence (Elliott, 2016). Elliot (2016) examined the role of academic self-efficacy and social self-efficacy and persistence at twenty-five 4-year higher education institutions across the United States. The results of this longitudinal quantitative study demonstrated that academic and social self-efficacy beliefs were associated with first-year college persistence. Tinto's (1997, 2005) student integration model indicated the roots of persistence lie in the educational aspirations and intentions students form prior to enrollment in a higher education institution; however, as aspirations and intentions are likely to change over time, post-matriculation interactions and integration into the institution are important in understanding persistence. Students who have increased selfefficacy and engagement within their first year in the higher education institution have a greater persistence rate (Conefrey, 2018; Elliot, 2016). Academic self-efficacy was associated with a greater persistence with students at highly selective institutions whereas social self-efficacy had the greatest impact on the persistence of students at less selective institutions (Elliott, 2016). Although studies show the importance of self-efficacy in student success and persistence, every student is unique and encounters different life experiences. Goals and aspirations of the student may change throughout their educational journey; however, self-efficacy remains an important motivational factor in persistence within the institution and achieving the goals.

In Bandura's (1997) social cognitive theory, Bandura argued that self-efficacy beliefs are influential in all aspects of goal achievement from the formation of intentions to aspirations to the execution of behavior necessary to achieve those goals because efficacy beliefs regulate cognitive, motivational, selective, and affective processes. Selfefficacy also affects motivational processes in educational environments where it impacts the drive to learn (Elliott, 2016). Bandura concluded that self-efficacy influences effort, the choices students make, the courses of action they pursue, and task persistence. Enhancing self-efficacy so students feel prepared and capable of achieving academic tasks and fulfilling their academic potential can lead to greater persistence and graduation rates (Soria, Laumer, Morrow, & Marttinen, 2017). Soria et al. (2017) conducted a qualitative study of advising practices for over 1200 students within a 4-year institution. The study revealed that students who participated in strengths-based advising experienced higher rates of academic self-efficacy and showed higher rates of first-year persistence and graduation in four years. Although the study was designed to look at advising practices, the importance of self-efficacy was noted, continuing to support previous studies. However, Walker (2016) concluded that increased self-efficacy was important as it helps to decrease perceived stress levels but provides minimal positive change in student persistence. Every student is different, and a one-size fits all approach to self-efficacy will not work. Higher education institutions should be aware of the possible impacts of self-efficacy on student persistence and success.

Ryan and Deci (2000) referred to self-efficacy as competence. Competence is when individuals feel effective in the environment in which they are interacting. Competence satisfaction allows the student to adapt to complex and changing environments, whereas competence frustration is likely to result in helplessness and a lack of motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Ryan and Deci concluded that although selfefficacy, or competence, is important for increased student motivation and positive experiences within higher education, it is only a small part of student persistence.

Autonomy

Motivated actions are understood as self-determined when they are engaged in volitionally and driven by personal values, as opposed to being mandated by the environment. With respect to student persistence, autonomy within the educational environment should be supported. Autonomy refers to the students' perceptions that the learning environment is interactive rather than controlled (Simon, Aulls, Dedic, Hubbard, & Hall, 2015). While studying how motivational factors and emotion variables account for academic achievement in science, technology, engineering, and math (STEM) courses

and persistence within a junior college in Canada, Simon et al. (2015) examined over 1300 students. Consistent with the self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2000, 2012), the results showed students' achievement goals, self-efficacy, and perceived autonomy effected their intrinsic motivation, emotions, and achievement that, in turn, predicted persistence in the STEM domain. Students need to feel they have some control over what is being taught, and that their thoughts and feelings about the material are being acknowledged (Simon et al., 2015). Autonomy is believed to facilitate the integration process which allows the student to apply their own values to new information (Dulfer, Rice, & Clark, 2017; Sogunro, 2015). Dulfer et al. (2017) incorporated the factors of the self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2000, 2012), to determine if a measurement tool could be developed to help predict student persistence. Although a small sample size was used in this study, Dulfer et al. (2017) concluded it was possible to develop reliable measures of the self-determination theory key concepts, including autonomy, that can be used with a larger sample of students. Ryan and Deci (2000) proposed that when students feel autonomous, rather than controlled, they are more likely to be intrinsically motivated and to adopt intrinsic goals that promote persistence. Consistent with the selfdetermination theory (Ryan & Deci, 1985), the results of the research by Corwin et al. (2018) concluded that students are intrinsically motivated when their need for autonomy is met, resulting in a sense of ownership. Subsequently, ownership of their coursework, cognitively and emotionally, is positively related to student success and persistence.

According to Smith and Darvas (2017) creating a learning environment that students feel comfortable when interacting with faculty and peers increases intrinsic

motivation and encourages students to take responsibility for their own learning. Interactive learning strategies provide students with more opportunities to take charge of their learning and control their learning process. This increase in autonomy within higher education leads to increased motivation and learning, which has a positive effect on persistence (Simon et al., 2015; Smith & Darvas, 2017). Additionally, interactive learning allows students to interact more with faculty and their peers. This interaction can lead to a sense of belonging. Ryan and Deci (2000) termed the sense of belonging as relatedness. In addition to autonomy, relatedness is an important factor in determining student persistence.

Relatedness

A sense of belonging within a higher education environment stems from academic and social relatedness. In a study of first-year college students, Davis, Hanzsek-Brill, Petzold, and Robinson (2019) indicated that the prediction of student persistence goes beyond academic performance. Davis et al. measured students' sense of belonging at key transition points during the first year in their educational journey. Using the Sense of Belonging index, which Davis et al. created, the results indicated that the students' sense of belonging, social and academic belonging, were predictive of persistence to their second year of education at the institution. Research by Jorgenson, Farrell, Fudge, and Pritchard (2018) have shown the importance of engaging students in defining what holistic social connectedness looks like on campus. Interventions such as orientation experiences, first-year seminar courses, mentoring, and promoting more intentional engagement with campus activities have all been shown to improve students' sense of belonging and their persistence (Jorgenson et al., 2018). Within higher education, social belonging efforts tailored to specific student needs are important to promote positive academic outcomes and persistence.

Tinto's (1997, 2005) student integration model suggested that positive interactions promote integration into the academic and social aspects of a higher education institution. A balanced social network, social integration into the education institution community and a sense of belonging are positive indicators for student persistence (Godor, 2017; Wright, Lenette, Lewis-Driver, & Lamar, 2017). Godor (2017) identified the need for higher education institutions to take ownership in providing a culture that promotes academic and social integration. Institutions of higher education need to meet students at their current level and help in the transitional process of integration. Research by Wright et al. (2017) demonstrated the important role of the institution in the integration process through their Common Time program (CTP). As the program is required for all first-year undergraduate students, the course was designed to "enhance the student life cycle and increase student success in academic learning and facilitate student engagement with staff and fellow students" (Wright et al., 2017, p. 80). The course provided students with consistent tools aimed at engaging and equipping them with necessary skills to achieve socially and academically throughout their first year at the institution, leading to increased persistence. The students would have a solid foundation of institutional support to help them through their entire education process. The likelihood of persistence from year one to year two increases when students' sense of belonging increases (Burke, 2019; Logan, 2017). In a study by Logan (2017), the results

support the recommendation of institutional involvement for providing practices that foster positive social integration opportunities to increase a sense of belonging. Burke's (2019) review of the literature reinforced Logan's findings through the reiteration that persistence is a complicated multivariate issue. The diverse student characteristics and lived experiences potentially impact students' ability to succeed and persist in higher education. Non-traditional students are another diverse population of students and should also be included in integration efforts (Hittepole, 2019). Burke suggested that creating positive social communities is vital to improving student's institutional commitment and educational persistence.

Extrinsic Motivation

Although intrinsic motivation has been linked with other adaptive outcomes such as improved learning, performance, and well-being, Ryan and Deci (2000) argued that understanding extrinsic motivation is also critical for educators. Not just thought as the negative form of motivation, extrinsic forms of motivation can extend to active agentic states with a sense of willingness, inner acceptance, or task value (Fong, Krause, Acee, & Weinstein, 2016). Given the difficulty of instilling intrinsic motivation or inherent interest in learning, teachers and instructors often rely on extrinsic motivation as an essential strategy in the classroom. Anderman and Gray (2015) categorized extrinsic motivation into four categories: (a) external regulation, (b) introjected regulation, (c) identified regulation, and (d) integrated regulation. Ryan and Deci further categorized extrinsic motivation into two types: (a) controlled motivation and (b) self-determined motivation, or autonomous motivation. Controlled motivation represents behavior that is dictated by emotions imposed by others, such as pride, shame, or guilt, or external rewards (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Selfdetermined motivation is a combination of the intrinsic and extrinsic regulatory mechanisms of interest, internalization, and values (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Self-determined motivation "comprises external and introjected forms of extrinsic motivation, whereas controlled motivation comprises identified and integrated forms of extrinsic motivation, along with intrinsic motivation" (Ryan & Deci, 2000, p. 73). Self-determined motivation is seen as a higher quality form of motivation than controlled motivation in the sense that the forces driving an individual's behavior are all internal in nature, even if some of these forces are secondary to the enjoyment of the task itself (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Motivating students to value, self-regulate, and carry out activities on their own, without external pressures, is important as controlled motivation is not always positive or sustainable.

External Regulation

External regulation is the classic type of extrinsic motivation and is often viewed as a behavior or activity that is performed to earn a reward or avoid punishment (Cherry, 2019). This type of extrinsic motivation is one in which students are motivated by external rewards. Thus, external regulation is the least autonomous and most controlled form of extrinsic motivation. Fong et al. (2016) concluded that external regulation was a strong predictor for student persistence. One argument is that students are more externally driven because their goals are to receive the 'reward' or 'incentive' of a college degree, a desirable pathway toward a more financially stable prospect (Fong et al., 2016). Another argument may be the motivation from others that might be fueling their desire to persist. A strong mentorship from a variety of sources: family, advisers, and peers, may also extrinsically motivate students to persist. Perhaps the inclination to want to please and impress these supportive figures is implicitly and positively encouraging them to achieve (Fong et al., 2016). Students with high extrinsic motivation may also be driven by the forces external from them, allowing them to overcome obstacles, adapt, and persist through college more easily.

Introjected Regulation

Introjected regulation results from people having partially internalized an extrinsic motivation, meaning they have taken it in but not really accepted it as their own. Introjected regulation is behavior that is dictated by emotions imposed by others. Introjection includes being motivated by contingent self-esteem, guilt, or egoinvolvement. Introjected regulation has been found to be accompanied by experiences and consequences like those associated with external regulation (Anderman & Gray, 2015). Rump, Esdar, and Wild (2017) conducted a quantitative study on the intention of students to drop out, or attrition out, of higher education institutions. The study utilized four types of academic motivation and its relationship to students' intent to drop out of their institution. After surveying over 1000 first semester students, Rump et al. concluded that introjected regulation was more indicative of persistence, not attrition. Although introjection is internal to the person, it is still quite controlling.

Identified Regulation

A more fully internalized form of extrinsic motivation is referred to as identified regulation. Internalization is defined as the process whereby new knowledge is adopted

into the mental systems so that it is embedded into internal knowledge systems that inform organizational practices, or a new way of doing things (Ryan & Deci, 1985). Identification involves people identifying with the personal value and importance of the behavior for themselves and thus accepting it as their own (Anderman & Gray, 2015). In a study on motivation, learning, and instruction, Anderman and Gray (2015) used the self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 1985) to understand the effects of motivational variables on academic outcomes. Anderman and Gray concluded that identified regulation is important in positive academic outcomes.

Integrated Regulation

The fullest type of internalized extrinsic motivation is integrated regulation. Integration involves people having integrated new identifications with other aspects of their own integrated sense of self, that is, with other identifications, values, and needs. With integrated regulation, people act with a full sense of volition and choice. Ryan and Deci (1985) addressed that issue with the concept of internalization, which had been an important concept in developmental psychology for many years, and they suggested that people tend to internalize material endorsed by significant others to satisfy a basic psychological need for relatedness. The Ryan and Deci idea was that extrinsic contingencies, which are external to people, could be taken in by the individuals and integrated into their sense of self. If that were to happen, people could behave from their own sense of self and thus be autonomous with respect to motivations that had originally been external. However, the researchers pointed out that internalization, which is a natural part of the integrative process, may not always function wholly effectively so motivations sometimes get only partially internalized and thus not fully integrated. Therefore, they suggested, internalization can be understood in terms of a continuum of autonomy, in which the more fully some value or regulation is internalized the more the accompanying behavior will be enacted autonomously.

Institutional Factors

Student persistence issues within higher education are multifaceted, vary from institution to institution, and continually fluctuate (Kerby, 2015). From his initial inquiries into student persistence within higher education settings, Tinto (1993) continued to evolve the student integration theory. Tinto's research went beyond student responsibility and included institutional factors that may impact student persistence within higher education. Tinto identified the need for student support programs within higher educational institutions that focus on all students, not just particular populations of students. Students should have access to support programs that truly support students' needs, not the institution. The student support program must offer academic and social integration for the students (Tinto, 1993; Schmitt & Duggan, 2011). For maximum effectiveness, student support programs must offer both formal and informal methods for academic and social integration (Chrysikos, Ahmed, & Ward, 2017; Tinto, 1993). Formal academic integration includes organizing activities in which students participate by researching topics in the library, attend labs and classes, and engage in other various activities related to academic success. Formal social integration includes scheduling extra-curricular activities in which students participate. Informal academic integration pertains to the engagement of students with faculty or staff outside of class hours.

Informal social integration comes from students interacting with peers outside of the learning environment. These informal interactions can lead to an increased bond between students and students and their higher education institution (Chrysikos et al., 2017; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1983). As important as formal and informal social interactions are in increasing a sense of belonging and engagement within an institution, these interactions are also integral in helping a student transition to a college environment.

As informal integration methods are not always easily accomplished within higher education settings, academic advising provides the opportunity for the development of strong relationships between students and faculty (Drake, 2011; Gatrix & Barrett, 2017; Perkins-Holtzclaw & Lampley, 2018). Tinto (2012) continued his research in student persistence, particularly in improving institutional practices and behaviors designed to help students persist within higher education. Using Tinto's framework for institutional action to improve practices and behaviors to help student success, Perkins-Holtzclaw and Lampley (2018) conducted a study to determine the extent to which institutional characteristics predicted first-time, full-time, fall-to-fall retention rates and 6-year graduation rates at 4-year colleges and universities. "Once the institution admitted a student, the institutional leaders accepted responsibility for providing that student with the services and resources needed for success" (Perkins-Holtzclaw & Lampley, 2018, p. 2). Tinto determined that student persistence and success is more of the responsibility of the higher education institution rather than student based. Tinto established four institutional conditions to increase student success and persistence that include: (a) expectations, (b) support, (c) assessment and feedback, and (d) engagement. Of these four institutional conditions, positive engagement between faculty and students has been known to increase the probability of student persistence (Schmitt & Duggan, 2011; Perkins-Holtzclaw & Lampley, 2018). Research by Schmitt and Duggan (2011) utilized Tinto's (2005) research on the importance of the relationship between student characteristics and college interactions in relation to student persistence to determine the impact of staff interactions on student persistence. Although later research by Tinto (2012) determined the importance of positive engagement between faculty and students to increase persistence, Schmitt and Duggan showed that staff interactions with students also impacts persistence. Perkins-Holtzclaw and Lampley also concluded that positive engagement between faculty and students is a good predictor of student persistence to graduation, reinforcing the need for institutions to take action to increase student success. This type of faculty or staff and student engagement can be accomplished through academic advising. As advisors are tasked with the responsibility of identifying students' needs and helping them succeed (Perkins-Holtzclaw & Lampley, 2018), positive engagement may establish a strong relationship between the student and faculty advisor (Gatrix & Barrett, 2017). Using a consistent approach to the amount and content of feedback given, effective academic advising not only strengthens the student/faculty relationship but strengthens the student's relationship with the higher education institution as well (Chrysikos et al., 2017; Gatrix & Barrett, 2017). Faculty and staff serving in the role of an advisor is important as they can recognize needs and empower students by helping them learn life skills, encourage responsibility, and grow in their relationship with others.

In addition to positive engagement and consistency in the approach and content of feedback, the use of strengths-related discussions should be employed during advising sessions (Soria et al., 2017). Strength-related discussions allow students to explore personal attributes and academic goals while focusing on their strengths and positive attributes. "Advising conversations are often the most personal conversations students have with any staff on campus, even compared with faculty, although they may see faculty more often" (Soria et al., 2017, p. 60). Soria et al. (2017) found that students who engage in strengths-related discussions with advisors had higher levels of engagement, demonstrated greater academic self-efficacy, and had significantly higher rates of persistence to graduation than their peers who did not engage in strengths-related conversations. Academic advising that focuses on the student rather than the institution helps to build relationships between the student and faculty, staff, and institution, thus supporting student engagement, persistence, and graduation (Soria et al., 2017). Purposeful advising is not only effective; it deepens the advisor/student relationship and establishes a support system for the student within the higher education institution.

Non-traditional Student Persistence

A traditional student within higher education institutions is between 18-22 years old who enrolls directly from high school, attends full-time, and does not have major life or work responsibilities (MacDonald, 2018). However, non-traditional, or adult learners are the new majority in any sector within higher education according to the National Center for Education Statistics (2018). Students are classified as non-traditional if they identify with at least one of the following criteria: be at least 25 years old, attend school part-time, work full-time, be a veteran, have children, wait at least one year after high school before entering college, have a general education development degree instead of a high school diploma, being a first-generation student, are enrolled in non-degree programs, or have reentered a college program (MacDonald, 2018). Non-traditional students have different needs than traditional students (Bohl, Haak, & Shrestha, 2017; MacDonald, 2018). Bohl et al. (2017) identified motivations on return, academic challenges, generation gaps, and support systems as distinct differences between nontraditional and traditional students.

Today's student populations in higher education are increasingly non-traditional. Estimates suggest 40% of the current undergraduate population at American colleges and universities are non-traditional (The Center for Law and Social Policy, 2015). Throughout the United States, the non-traditional student population is growing rapidly (The Center for Law and Social Policy, 2015). Non-traditional students are on their way to becoming the new majority amongst students enrolled in higher education institutions (Hittepole, 2019). However, most institutions continue to cater to the traditional student population. Non-traditional students enrolled in higher education institutions tend to have unique needs which include feelings of social isolation, inter-role conflict, and lack of academic flexibility (Hittepole, 2019). Social isolation is often experienced by nontraditional students as many find it difficult to connect with traditional students (Hittepole, 2019). As non-traditional students lack a sense of belonging, their satisfaction and success within the higher education institution tends to decrease (Hittepole, 2019). In addition to their role as a student, many non-traditional students may be a parent, an employee, a caregiver, on top of many other competing roles. These students often experience a great deal of inter-role conflict as fulfillment of one role hinders their ability to fulfill their role as a student, and vice versa (Hittepole, 2019; Markle, 2015). Some inter-role conflict occurs due to structural barriers within institutions, as non-traditional students have difficulty finding classes that fit into their existing roles. Because most courses are designed for traditional students, non-traditional students frequently report frustration in the lack of course availability and course times (Hittepole, 2019; Singh, 2019). "These obstacles to success are not only challenging for non-traditional students, in some cases they prevent students from obtaining their degrees" (Hittepole, 2019, p. 3). Institutions must recognize that non-traditional students enter higher education institutions for a variety of reasons. Some enter colleges and universities to reenter the workforce, for intrinsic reasons such as self-improvement and a desire to increase knowledge, as well as to meet family needs (Hittepole, 2019). When non-traditional students are interested, motivated, and supported in their studies, they are more likely to engage, contribute to the classroom, and persist (Hittepole, 2019). As the needs of nontraditional students are diverse, higher education institutions must recognize and address these needs to help this population of students persist in their educational endeavors.

Persistence in Higher Education

Student persistence in higher education has been a consistent topic of research since the 1970s (Tinto, 1975, 1997, 2005). Increased knowledge of the context in which the lack of persistence occurs is critical in positively addressing this issue within higher education; however, research typically focuses on variables that affect persistence but lie beyond the control of the higher education institution. The lack of persistence to graduation has serious effects on the student, institution, and society (Bernardo et al., 2016), thus increasing the importance of finding solutions to increasing student persistence within higher education.

Low completion rates yield significant costs. Students end up burdened with debt, waste their time, and see their earnings distinctly reduced. The median yearly income gap between high school and college graduates is around \$17,500 (Osborn, 2016). On average, college graduates earn \$1 million in learning over their lifetime (Osborn, 2016). The United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (2018) reported that, on average, workers who hold at least a bachelor's degree earned more than the median weekly earnings for all workers in 2018. Additionally, the unemployment rate for those with higher education degrees is significantly less than those without. The unemployment rate for those with a high school degree or less is three times higher compared to those who did attend college (Osborn, 2016). Persistence in higher education is essential to acquire higher income and earnings annually and throughout one's life while making it easier to find a job.

As the cost of an education continues to rise, student persistence from higher education is a growing concern for institutions, funding bodies, students, and the economy. According to the U.S. Department of Education (2016), billions of dollars each year are allocated to financial aid in the United States. In 2016, the federal government reported it made \$94.7 billion in net loans to 9.8 million recipients in the 2016-2017 academic year (U.S. Department of Education, 2016). Each year, an estimated \$46 billion in grants and scholarship money is awarded by the U.S. Department of Education and the nation's colleges and universities. In addition, about \$3.3 billion in gift aid is awarded by private sources, including individuals, foundations, corporations, churches, nonprofit groups, civic societies, veteran's groups, professional groups, associations, and many other organizations. When students invest in higher education through loans and do not graduate, serious negative consequences result for the students and the economy. Boggs, Elsner, and Irwin (2017) reported to compete in the global economy one must possess some form of postsecondary education. Interest in entering college has increased, although completion has been on the decline. This factor impacts more than only the college one chooses to attend. It also impacts the individual's ability to provide for their family and reduces the chance of becoming unemployed. Student persistence is an area of concern within higher education, and the effect is costly.

Heller (2001) identified three major challenges that higher education institutions face in the future: (a) affordability, (b) access, and (c) accountability. Since this timeframe, government involvement has increased. Taxpayers also began demanding that higher education become more accountable. Lawmakers no longer freely provide funding for higher education. The government has placed a stronger hold on these funds and threatens actual measures to limit tuition unless higher education institutions demonstrate responsible spending practices. Legislators mandate institutions submit persistence figures. In addition to setting performance benchmarks, legislators also pay close attention to the way that colleges spend and save the money they receive. This performance-based funding approach provides institutions with a larger share of public subsidies to the organizations that deliver impressive performance metrics. This economic incentive requires states to redefine relationships by pressuring institutions to become more accountable, more efficient, and more productive in the use of government funding.

Persistence in Health-Related Education

Due to the growing demands from an aging population on the healthcare system and the potential for additional people accessing healthcare due to the Affordable Care Act, there is an increased need for qualified health care workers in the United States (Finnel, 2018; Gaus, 2017; Menser, 2015). Americans born between 1946 and 1964 make up one of the largest generations in the United States (Ezequiel, 2016). Approximately 10,000 Americans turn 65 years old each day, making them eligible for Medicare and retirement (Ezequiel, 2016). "As a result, the number of Medicare enrollees will increase from its current 54 million to more than 80 million by 2030, when 20% of the United State's population will be aged 65 years or older" (Ezequiel, 2016, p. 242). As the population ages, the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (2018) indicated an increased need for health providers. Not only are health care providers retiring at a rapid rate, but there are not enough new graduates to replenish the workforce (Kavilanz, 2018). Kavilanz (2018) stated the United States will need to hire 2.3 million new healthcare workers by 2025 to adequately take care of its aging population. In the most recent comprehensive global study by the World Health Organization (2013), there is an estimated global shortfall of 12.9 million health care workers by 2035. When there are fewer health care workers to take care of a larger volume of patients, it adversely affects patient outcomes. A shortage of healthcare workers creates a blockage to timely care for

the patient, including lab work, medical imaging, surgical procedures, and treatment from a physician. Kavilanz noted, "Patients are more likely to be readmitted after 30 days of first being seen and they can also be at a higher risk of a hospital acquired infection" (para. 10). In health-related studies, the lack of student persistence to graduation negatively impacted health care on many levels while contributing negatively to patients, our communities, and global societies.

Summary and Conclusions

Chapter 2 included an exhaustive search of theories, models, and research that relate to student persistence. From the foundational persistence theories of Spady (1970, 1971), Tinto (1975, 1993, 1997, 2005, 2012), and Bean (1980, 1983) to the more inclusive theories of Bean and Metzner (1985) and Cabrera, Nora, and Castaneda (1993), student persistence was presented as not single-dimensional but multi-faceted in nature. Individual factors, as well as institutional factors, were noted throughout research as contributors to student persistence. The focus of Chapter 2 captured the significance of previous research of student persistence in higher education; however, there have been no studies on the subjective experiences of radiologic technology students regarding persistence. Increased persistence from enrollment to graduation for students in radiologic technology programs is beneficial not only for the students and higher education institution but for the community as well, who will be provided with appropriate health care personnel for the future. Participants in this qualitative study contributed to the field of radiologic technology education by revealing their personal experiences of persistence from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic

technology program. As previous research lacks the subjective experiences of individuals and persistence, I conducted my research in a manner that may close this gap in the literature. Using a basic qualitative approach and semi-structured interview questions, I sought to identify individual experiences with persistence. Chapter 3 provides the groundwork to begin the comprehensive process of gathering and analyzing data from previous radiologic technology students who wanted to share their perceptions of their experiences related to persistence at their institution or reasons for leaving.

Chapter 3: Research Method

As indicated in the literature review, there was a gap in knowledge about student persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs. The purpose of this study was to explore how students describe their perceptions of experiences at the local college that encouraged them to persist to graduation or quit attending in a metropolitan area of the southern United States. A basic qualitative design was used to explore what impediments may influence students to drop out of radiologic technology programs while addressing a gap in practice at the local site and a gap in the literature about student persistence.

Qualitative methodology is used to explore the perspectives, feelings, and beliefs of participants while providing insight to gain an understanding of underlying reasons, opinions, and motivations of others (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I chose a qualitative approach to answer the research questions because it would provide subjective information on student persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs. Qualitative methodology allows data to be collected in various manners including the use of interviews (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Chapter 3 includes (a) the research design and rationale, (b) my role as a researcher, (c) participant recruitment and selection, (d) instrumentation, (e) the research setting, (f) data collection and analysis, and (g) the measures I took to protect the participants.

Research Design and Rationale

Research methodology includes the procedures or techniques used to identify, select, process, and analyze information about a topic. The research method is a tool that helps the researcher answer the research question(s). For the current study, a basic

qualitative approach was used. Qualitative methodology involves viewing, understanding, and engaging with people (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Qualitative methodology is more subjective and does not allow for generalizability of data. Concerned with *how* and *why* questions, qualitative research is about words and stories. Although different research methods have their strengths and weaknesses, the research questions of a study should drive the methodology chosen for the study.

Students who persisted and students who did not persist from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program from 2014 to 2019 were interviewed to learn their perspectives regarding these influences. The research questions for this study guided the exploration of student experiences relating to Ryan and Deci's (1985) self-determination theory concepts of motivation and success. The following questions were designed to promote understanding of how intrinsic and extrinsic motivation supported persistence or did not support persistence of students from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States:

RQ1: What are students' perceptions of experiences that encouraged them to persist to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology programs in a metropolitan area of the southern United States?

RQ2: What are students' perceptions of experiences that resulted in their leaving the 2-year radiologic technology programs in a metropolitan area of the southern United States?

To answer these research questions, I used qualitative methodology to understand participants' perceptions of their experiences. Qualitative designs include ethnography, grounded theory, narrative, phenomenology, case study, and generic or basic. Ethnography requires immersion in the participants' environment and observation in the natural setting (Mihas, 2019). Ethnographers seek to study the participants over an extended period of time through close examination and analysis of their culture (Creswell, 2014). I did not intend to study the culture of the institution. Therefore, I concluded that this design would not be appropriate to answer my research questions. The grounded theory design involves using the results and literature collected from a variety of settings to generalize to other settings and create a theory (Mihas, 2019). I did not seek to create a theory. Therefore, this was not the appropriate mode of inquiry to answer the research questions.

The narrative design allows a participant to tell the story of their life and allows the researcher to find meaning through the stories (Creswell, 2014; Mihas, 2019). The research questions of this study did not lend themselves to this design of inquiry because I did not aspire to find meaning through stories. In addition, phenomenology is a design best suited for a researcher investigating a shared phenomenon or lived experiences of a group of individuals (Creswell, 2014; Mihas, 2019). The goal of this approach is to describe the nature of a phenomenon (Creswell, 2014). Although every participant in the current study attended a 2-year radiologic technology program, each had different lived experiences and was unique individuals. A one-size-fits-all approach would not have been appropriate; therefore, a phenomenological approach was not chosen to answer my research questions.

A case study design is an empirical inquiry that addresses a phenomenon within its real-life context (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Case studies are based on an in-depth investigation of a single individual, group, or event to explore the causes of underlying principles (Ravitch & Carl, 2016; Yin, 2009). A case study is understood as bounded by time and place (Creswell, 2014; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Case study research methods include a variety of data sources (Ravitch & Carl, 2016; Yin, 2009). Because I used only interviews to gather data, a case study approach was not appropriate to answer my research questions.

Basic qualitative research is the preferred approach when trying to "solve a problem, effect a change, or identify relevant themes rather than attempting to position their work in a particular epistemological or ontological paradigm" (Mihas, 2019, para. 1). The basic qualitative approach was ideal for my study for several reasons. First, the basic qualitative approach allowed for investigation of the current problem at the institution by understanding what the problem means to the participants. These results cannot be generalized (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Second, the basic qualitative approach enables the researcher to gain an in-depth understanding of the problem (Creswell, 2014) by collecting detailed and descriptive data (Nassaji, 2015). Third, the basic qualitative methodology allows for flexibility (Ravitch & Carl, 2016) and requires much less control than a quantitative study because it occurs in the natural setting (Flick, 2018). Creswell and Creswell (2018) explained that quantitative researchers seek to establish conclusions

about populations that address a hypothesis, that are either experimental or descriptive, that are statistically significant, and that can be generalized to a larger population. In the current study, I sought to understand the phenomenon of student persistence at a specific institution; therefore, quantitative methodology was not appropriate.

Role of the Researcher

In my role as the researcher, it was necessary to identify any possible conflict of interests. At the time of the study, I was the chair of a 2-year radiologic technology program in the southern United States. One facet of my position is administrative. As a leader within my institution and chair of the radiologic technology program, I know that student persistence from enrollment to graduation is important. I have a responsibility to ensure students are retained and succeed in the program. I also teach several courses a semester in the radiologic technology program. My roles as an administrator and faculty member provide me with views of student persistence from different perspectives.

Because I am the direct supervisor for three faculty members and actively teach within the radiologic technology at my institution, a different institution was chosen for this study. I had no direct authority at the study location, and I did not serve on any committees, councils, or boards. Therefore, my position at my institution did not affect the responses of any students in the study. Interviews were conducted with previous students at the study location.

With my limited affiliation to the institution or its students, there was no conflict of interest. I considered my role as a researcher and kept a research journal to manage any bias that could have occurred. To ensure quality, I identified major themes from the data, included personal reflections in the data, used research literature to support my findings, and acknowledged the limitations of the study. Additionally, I used an external transcription agency to reduce the risk of bias in the study.

Methodology

A basic qualitative approach was chosen for this study because I had an interest in students' perceptions of their experiences while attending a 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States. Because student persistence is lower than desired at the study site, I wanted to learn from students who persisted from enrollment to graduation and from the students who did not persist from enrollment to graduation. I used a qualitative approach in which interviews were conducted to collect and analyze data that would provide valuable information on student persistence in a 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States.

Participant Selection

Population. The population of interest was individuals who did and did not persist from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program. The 2year radiologic technology program is accredited by the JRCERT and is part of a public community college in a metropolitan area of the southern United States. Because the purpose of this study was to explore how students describe their perceptions of experiences at the local college that encouraged them to persist to graduation or quit attending in a metropolitan area of the southern United States, the population identified was ideal for this study. **The setting.** The student population at the institution ranges in age from under 20 to 50+ years old. The institution has a population of over 9,000 students with the male gender comprising over 50% of the student population. Over half of the student population is White, and the remaining students are Black, American Indian, Hispanic, Asian, Other, Unknown, or Multiple.

The 2-year radiologic technology program enrolls 18-20 students each academic year. There are two full-time faculty members who consist of the program director and clinical coordinator. The program employs multiple adjunct faculty to teach the didactic portion of the curriculum. Additionally, staff radiologic technologists within the clinical setting serve as clinical instructors or preceptors to teach the clinical components of the curriculum. For this study, I interacted with only the participants of the study. My goal was to interview a minimum of seven previous students who did not persist and a minimum of seven students who persisted from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States during the years 2014-2019. I began data collection once I had recruited seven participants in each category.

Sampling strategy. Purposeful sampling was used to select participants. Purposeful sampling is a nonprobability sampling method in which participants are selected based on characteristics of a population and the objective of the study (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). This approach promotes the selections of participants who can provide rich experiences and personal perceptions to the problem being studied. Creswell (2014) described purposeful sampling as a method in which to identify and select individuals who are knowledgeable about or experienced with a phenomenon of interest. The goal of purposeful sampling is to focus on the characteristics of a population of interest, which will enable the researcher to answer the research questions.

Selection criteria. The criteria for selection included students enrolled in and having attended the 2-year radiologic technology program at the selected institution during the years 2014-2019. The criteria also included students who did and did not persist from enrollment to graduation in this 2-year radiologic technology program. The selection criteria allowed me to achieve data saturation to answer the research questions. Participants in this study consisted of seven individuals who persisted and seven individuals who did not persist from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States. Creswell (1998) recommended a sample size of 5-25 for basic qualitative studies, while Hagaman and Wutich (2016) recommended a sample size of 16 or fewer. My chosen sample size allowed for data saturation.

Relationship between saturation and sample size. The participants provided their experiences and perceptions regarding persistence from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program; therefore, the relationship between saturation and the desired sample size can be viewed in a cultural context. As a result of the shared experiences of the participants, saturation can be achieved with the sample size (Creswell, 1998). Hagaman and Wutich (2016) concluded that saturation can occur with 16 or fewer participants when they compose a relatively homogeneous group.
Instrumentation

The instrumentation for this study was a semistructured interview protocol. In addition to audio recording the interviews, I kept a field journal to note observations during the interview process. The interview questions were developed by me based on related literature and the experiences at my educational institution. To ensure content validity, I asked subject experts to review the interview questions. The subject experts, who consisted of radiologic technology program faculty, provided feedback on how well each question aligned with the research questions. The use of interviews in qualitative research is valuable because they allow the researcher to focus of the why and how of human interactions (Ravitch & Carl, 2012). Open-ended interview questions allowed for deeper understanding of student persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs.

A semistructured interview approach was used in this study, and the interviews were audio-recorded to ensure accuracy of transcripts. The interviews lasted 45 minutes to 1 hour. The semistructured interview encouraged the participant to answer at length and in detail. If the need arose, I asked probing or follow-up questions. For example, if there was a contradiction in the answers of any participant, I utilized iterative questioning. This systematic and repetitive process enables the researcher to collect specific data that are necessary for trustworthy qualitative research (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). The intent of the interview questions (see Appendix A) was to identify the perceptions of what the participants had experienced regarding persistence from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Prior to beginning any data collection, I obtained IRB approval from the higher education setting used for the study. I ensured I meet the research standards of their institution by completing all necessary paperwork and supplying them with the required documentation for the study. I also obtained IRB approval from Walden University. Walden University's IRB approval number for this study is 05-06-20-0736052. Once I obtained IRB approval from both institutions, I started the process of data collection by inviting interviewees.

The higher education institution setting for this study reached out to participants on my behalf. Participants received email correspondence outlining the purpose of the study, a timeline for the study, and information regarding the receipt of a \$25.00 gift card for their participation in the study. Interested individuals contacted the institutional research coordinator at the higher education institution. The institutional research coordinator communicated with me when the desired number of participants had been met. At that time, I obtained the contact information for the interested participants. I emailed each interested participant and introduced myself, restated the purpose of the study, reminded them that it wasvoluntary, and sent a copy of the consent for participation in the study. For those who consented to participate, I assigned all interviewees an alphanumeric signifier which was used in the interview recording, audio recordings, transcriptions, and reflective log. I did not reveal the names of the participants to any other person and maintained a digital record of assigned codes on an encrypted flash drive. After weighing different designs of inquiry to determine which would be most useful, semi-structured interviews was chosen. In the interviews, the participants were provided an opportunity to discuss their experiences that contributed to persistence in the higher education institution. The interviews aided in understanding the current reasons for the lower student persistence rate in 2-year radiologic technology programs in a metropolitan area of the southern United States.

Because I used semi-structured interviews with participants but cannot control the data collected, this approach provided the best opportunity for insight into the problem (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Yin, 2014). The recorded conversations were instrumental in eliciting in-depth, detailed experiences. Rubin and Rubin's (2012) guidelines for interviewing were utilized when conducting the interviews. The interview guidelines promoted a positive interview environment and allowed me to complete the interviews in a professional and neutral manner. Rubin and Rubin recommend using semi-structured, open-ended questions that allow the participants to express themselves. The questions reflected continuity and I clarified meanings and indicated understanding throughout the interview process. Using positive body language, I encouraged responses and I maintained control of the interview. Rubin and Rubin's method accentuated the importance of fostering an informative conversation to gain insights into participants' perspectives.

I arranged a time and place with each participant in which to conduct the interview. Ravitch and Carl (2016) recommended conducting interviews in a safe space where participants feel comfortable and relaxed. I did not rush through the interview

questions but maintained consistency in question delivery. Prior to starting the interviews, I explained the process and clarified any questions posed by the participant. I reminded the participants that the interview would last 45-60 minutes, clarified any questions posed by the interviewee about the study or the consent form, and told them the interview would be audio recorded. Once all questions were answered I began the interview process. The semi-structured interview approach allowed participants to provide rich and detailed information pertaining to the research questions. After the interviews were completed, each participant received a transcript of their interview via email and validated it for accuracy. Interviewees were advised that follow-up interviews may be necessary.

Data Analysis Plan

To manage the interview and background information of the participants, I used the interview protocol (see Appendix A). In addition, the interview questions and any probing questions used were included in the field notes. The interview responses and field notes made up the data. As recommended by Tracy (2019) the initial coding of field notes and interviews was done manually using pencil and paper. I read and reread the data and noted emerging ideas. In addition to organizing data sources into a collection of key phrases, patterns of primary themes, and potential subthemes, I used Microsoft Excel and Word software to document the analysis of keywords-in-context or word-repetitions. According to LaPelle (2004), simplifying qualitative data analysis using Microsoft Word is beneficial for retrieving coded text segments, building a hierarchy list of "code categories via indexing, global editing of theme codes, coding of 'face sheet' data, exploring relationships between face-sheet codes and conceptual codes, quantifying the frequency of code instances, and annotating text" (p. 85). Additional analysis was implemented as I used one of the recommended software programs, NVivo 12 (see Tracy, 2019), to electronically code, organize, store, manage, and reconfigure the recorded data. As the goal of this study was to understand the phenomenon of student persistence from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs in a metropolitan area of the southern United States, all collected data were analyzed. Discrepant data were included in data analysis and reporting as contraindications in data can give rise to unexpected findings, which could ultimately strengthen the research.

Trustworthiness

The concept of developing valid and trustworthy studies is essential in qualitative research. Ravitch and Carl (2016) identified the term trustworthiness as "the process and approach that qualitative researchers use to assess the rigor of qualitative studies" (p. 187). To assess rigor, the fundamental elements of credibility, transferability, dependability, and conformability were used to help the researcher conceptualize, engage with, and plan for various aspects of validity.

Guba (1981) defined credibility as the "researcher's ability to account for the complexities that present themselves in a study and to deal with patterns that are not easily explained" (as cited in Ravitch and Carl, 2016, p. 188). Electronic recording devices were utilized throughout the data collection process to ensure credibility. To establish credibility, I acknowledged my role as an educator in radiologic sciences with

each participant. In so doing, I hoped to establish trust and rapport with the participants and included member checks into my research (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Ravitch and Carl (2016) identified that building relationships with participants through trust and rapport is a vital process that is at the heart of qualitative research. The purposeful participant selection process provided multiple viewpoints and perspectives specific to student persistence from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program. I had each participant review their transcript and provide feedback to validate it for accuracy. I ensured the transcript captured the entire essence of the interview while maintaining accuracy. Upon completion of the transcription process, I emailed the final transcript to the participant to ascertain I understood the participant's responses. These individuals informed the body of knowledge (see Amankwaa, 2016) regarding student persistence from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States from multiple perspectives.

Transferability is "the way in which qualitative studies can be applicable, or transferable, to broader contexts while still maintaining their context-specific richness" (Ravitch & Carl, 2016, p. 189). To ensure transferability, I used detailed descriptions of the data and context so the readers can make comparisons to other contexts with as much information as possible. To allow for reflection and interpretation of the data collected, I maintained a journal. All the data collected through audio recordings and note taking were given to a professional transcription agency. I had the professional transcription agency sign a confidentiality agreement to honor the privacy of each participant. Once the transcriptions were complete, I began analyzing the information. Dependability of research is achieved by using a solid research design. I vetted my choice to use a qualitative research design with previous professors and my dissertation chair. I wanted to ensure I used the most effective research design to answer my research questions. As I strive to make a positive impact on student persistence in 2year radiologic technology programs, I am confident that a qualitative approach was appropriate for data collection.

Acknowledging and exploring the ways that our biases and prejudices affect our interpretation of the data is the goal of confirmability. Through frequent debriefing sessions with my dissertation chair, I reviewed my thoughts and theories. This process allowed me to address any flaws and allowed me to develop ideas and interpretations in a forum that called attention to any bias I had as a researcher. The discussions provided guidance and alternative strategies. I held myself accountable which increased dependability of the study. I coded the data in the same way throughout the coding process which enhanced intra-coder reliability. The discussions allowed me to check and recheck the data throughout the study, increasing confirmability. In addition, the use of an external transcription agency lessened the chance of any personal bias in transcribing the interview logs. The coding of data was done manually and by using the NVivo 12 coding software program. NVivo 12 offered a wide range of tools to assist with managing the data collected from the in-depth interviews. The NVivo 12 software had the capacity to record, organize, sort, match, and link enriched information. By employing two mechanisms in which to code the transcribed data intercoder reliability increases, thus increasing the trustworthiness of the results.

Ethical Procedures

Ethical considerations for this study included maintaining confidentiality, following IRB and federal guidelines, following the guidelines set forth by the chosen higher education institution used in the study, and protecting the privacy of the participants in the study. I obtained informed consent from each participant, but also reiterated they could leave the study at any time without consequences. I did not reveal the names of any participant. Each participant was assigned an alphanumeric signifier that was used for the interview recording, audio recording, transcriptions, and the reflective log. For increased protection of the participants' information, a copy of all electronic forms, transcripts, and notes was stored on encrypted flash drives. To ensure no other person had access to the confidential data, the use of alphanumeric coding of the participants' information was employed. I stored this information separately on my personal password-protected computer and all electronic files and flash drives were kept secured in my home.

I offered participants an incentive to participate as compensation for their time. The use of incentives in participant recruitment has shown quicker recruitment times and increased engagement (see Rubin & Rubin, 2012). If a participant started the interview process and decided to stop before it was finished, they still received the incentive.

No participant was penalized for not answering all the questions or stopping the interview early. To ensure accuracy and integrity of the interview data, I emailed each participant a copy of their interview transcript and asked them to review and verify the information. I amended the summary of the interview transcript based on the participant

feedback. To ensure the data was kept confidential, a copy of all electronic forms, transcripts, and notes were stored on encrypted flash drives. To ensure no other person had access to the confidential data, the use of alphanumeric coding of the participants' information was employed. I stored this information separately on my personal passwordprotected computer and all electronic files and flash drives were kept secured in my home. All the data collected through audio recordings and note taking were given to a professional transcription agency. Once the transcriptions were complete, I began analyzing the information. After 5-years of safe storage, I will destroy all the collected data.

Summary

Chapter 3 included explanation that I used a basic qualitative methodology to explore how students describe their perceptions of experiences at the local college that encouraged them to persist to graduation or quit attending in a metropolitan area of the southern United States. I used these experiences to gain a deeper understanding in student persistence from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs. Using semi-structured interviews to explore student persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs, I acquired rich, thick descriptions from participants.

As the researcher, I was responsible for the analysis and interpretation of the data, using subjective judgment, and synthesizing participants' realities. This chapter focused on the methodology of this study, the participant selection, and my role as the researcher. Additionally, key measures to ensure the trustworthiness of this study were addressed, along with the ethical considerations I took while conducting doctoral

research. Chapter 4 includes information about the research setting, data collection and analysis, results, and evidence of trustworthiness throughout the study. Overall, Chapter 4 explains the analysis and findings from this current study.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this study was to explore how students describe their perceptions of experiences at the local college that encouraged them either to persist to graduation or quit attending in a metropolitan area of the southern United States. The research questions that guided the exploration of student experiences related to Bean and Metzner's (1985) non-traditional undergraduate attrition model and to the concepts of motivation and success in Deci and Ryan's (1985) self-determination theory because they support student persistence. The following research questions guided the data collection and analysis:

RQ1: What are the students' perceptions of why they did not persist from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs in a metropolitan area of the southern United States?

RQ2: What are the students' perceptions of what helped them persist from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs in a metropolitan area of the southern United States?

In this chapter, the setting and demographics of the study are identified. Following a description of the data collection, the data analysis procedures that were used to determine the findings are described. After discussion of the results of this study by research question, evidence of trustworthiness, which included credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability, is presented.

Setting

This research took place at a 2-year college in a metropolitan area in the southern United States. I chose a 2-year college setting because of its characteristics, mission, values, goals, and affiliation with outstanding history of health care education. The institution selected has provided excellence in academics, health care education, firsttime pass rates on certification exams, and job placement for over 30 years. The college grants associate's degrees but also offers program certificates, general education classes, continuing education classes in health care, and a Bachelor of Science in Nursing program. The 2-year college used in this study ensures access to quality education in current and emerging health care fields for a diverse population. Moreover, the college is regionally accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges. Finally, the college uses selective admissions criteria for all health care programs. The health care program pertinent to the current study was the radiologic technology program.

The selective admissions criteria for the radiologic technology program consists of completion of the radiologic technology program application, a minimum of 2.5 cumulative GPA, a minimum composite score of 19 on the American Colleges Testing assessment, verified absence of drug and alcohol use, background screening, verified completion of cardiopulmonary resuscitation training, a health assessment, and proof of vaccinations. Applicants who meet these criteria are academically ranked according to their cumulative GPA. The 50 highest-ranked applicants are invited to interview with college admissions' personnel. The radiologic technology program accepts 18-20 students every fall term. Participants in the current study met these requirements and enrolled in the radiologic technology program during the 2014-2019 academic years.

The participants were selected because they could provide rich responses to the interview questions. The participant selection process started after approval was received from Walden University's IRB. Because the study site is affiliated with a health care organization, I also had to apply for approval from the health care organization's IRB. An ethics training course was completed for process improvement, and the completion certificate was submitted as part of the application process. The application was approved as a process improvement study by the health care organization's IRB.

I gained access to the study site and the participants through the institutional effectiveness coordinator of the college via email and included copies of both IRB approval documents. The email provided an overview of the study and asked whether the institutional effectiveness coordinator could help with sending the study invitation and consent form to all prospective participants. I requested the study information be sent to any radiologic technology students who were enrolled during the 2014-2019 academic years. The institutional effectiveness coordinator created a list of all students who were enrolled during the years requested and divided the listing into two sections: (a) individuals who persisted from enrollment to graduation and (b) individuals who did not persist from enrollment to graduation. The study invitations and consents were sent in two rounds. The first round of invitations and consents were emailed to 45 prospective participants, 25 who persisted to graduation and 20 who did not persist to graduation. From the first round of invitations, a total of eight individuals consented to participate in

the study. Out of the eight participants, six persisted to graduation and two did not persist to graduation. The second round of invitations and consents were emailed to 62 individuals, 37 who persisted to graduation and 25 who did not persist to graduation. After the second round of invitations and consents were sent, an additional six individuals consented to participate in the study. Of these six, one persisted to graduation and five did not persist to graduation. Those who chose to participate emailed me and responded with the words "I consent." After I received an email with this confirmation from each participant, I emailed the demographic questionnaire and sent information to schedule the interview. Due to the state-mandated restriction of social distancing because of COVID-19, Zoom served as the interview platform.

The 14 participants in this study either persisted from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program or did not persist from enrollment to graduation and withdrew from the program. I selected participants who represented both persistence and nonpersistence because each group would provide unique perceptions about their individual experiences in the radiologic technology program. Table 1 shows the demographic data from the questionnaire, including age, gender, highest degree completed, work status, marital status, and number of dependents while enrolled in the program. I assigned a numeric signifier to each participant to protect their identities and ensure confidentiality.

Table 1

Participant	Age	Gender	Highest level of education	Work status while enrolled	Marital status	Number of dependents
A5	44	F	SC	U	М	2
A6	20	F	SC	U	E	0
A7	22	F	BS	PT	S	0
A8	31	F	BS	U	М	0
A9	19	F	AAS	РТ	S	0
A10	21	F	SC	PT	S	*0, 1
A11	25	F	BS	U	М	1
W14	20	MLE	SC	РТ	S	0
W15	22	F	BS	FT	S	0
W16	19	MLE	SC	FT	S	0
W17	24	F	SC	PT	М	0
W18	20	F	SC	U	S	0
W19	22	F	SC	U	S	0
W20	22	F	BS	PT	S	0

Participant Demographics

Note. F = female, MLE = male; BS = Bachelor of Science, AAS = Associate of Applied Science, SC = some college; U = unemployed, PT = part-time, FT = full-time; M = married, S = single, E = engaged; *0,1 = started the program with zero dependents and ended the program with one dependent.

According to the demographics of this group, the participants were enrolled in the same 2-year radiologic technology program between 2014 and 2019. Participants' ages while enrolled ranged from 19 to 44 years. Twelve participants were female, and two were male. All but one of the participants had some college experience before entering the program. Eight participants worked in some capacity while enrolled in the program. Four participants were married and three had dependents while enrolled in the program.

I made observations regarding the personal characteristics and ages and work status of the participants in this study. Although two participants (A9 and W16) were 19 when starting the program, one persisted to graduation while the other did not persist. Additionally, most of the participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation worked while in the program.

Data Collection

The participants' responses to the interview questions provided data for this basic qualitative study. The interview questions were recorded via Zoom and the voicerecorded interviews were sent to a transcription agency. Follow-up emails were sent to each participant that included their individual transcribed interview.

The institutional effectiveness coordinator at the study site emailed the study invitation and consent form to a list of prospective participants. The instructions for participation in this study required the individuals to email me with the words "I consent." Fourteen individuals responded to the study invitation and consented to participate in the study. Once I received their consent, I emailed them the demographic questionnaire and sent information to schedule the interview. During the month of July 2020, I collected the participants' responses from the interviews. One 45-minute interview was conducted with each participant using Zoom. I did not use any published instrument to collect the data; I created the interview questions for this study. The interview questions were designed to address the perspectives, feelings, and beliefs of participants while providing insight to gain an understanding of underlying reasons, opinions, and motivations (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). To ensure credibility and dependability, I used interviews as the instrument to gather data (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The interview questions were reviewed by subject experts at the study site to confirm validity. The subject experts, who were radiologic technology program faculty, provided feedback on how well each question addressed the research question. I emailed the interview questions to three program faculty for review and feedback. They approved the interview questions with no revisions.

I used two different sets of interview questions (see Appendix A) for this study. One set of questions was asked of participants who persisted from enrollment to graduation, while the other set of interview questions was asked of participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program. The synchronous interview process allowed for immediate responses from the participants, and I was able to clarify any of the responses before asking the next question. Additionally, I was able to monitor the body language of each participant during the interview. Each interview was audio recorded, and I kept a journal of each participant interview. After completion of each interview, I emailed the participant a \$25.00 Amazon gift card as appreciation for their participation in the study.

Next, I sent each audio-recorded interview to a transcription agency. The turnaround time for the transcriptions was approximately 24-hours. Once I received the transcripts, I emailed the participants their individual interview transcript for review. I allowed 10 days for the transcript review process; however, I received confirmation from all 14 participants within 7 days. One of the participants provided additional information to her transcript that she wanted reflected in her interview responses. I added this information as an addendum to her transcript to ensure all information was captured and recorded. The initial emails requesting the demographic information and scheduling the interview, the synchronous interview, and the follow-up emails helped me build rapport with each participant.

Approximately 30 days passed from the time the initial invitation and consent emails were sent to participants to the conclusion of transcript review. All 14 participants answered the interview questions and completed the interviews, resulting in a 100% response rate. Transcript review was used to ensure participants reviewed their interview transcript and confirmed the experiences captured in the interview were representative of their perceptions. Individual participant transcripts were reviewed to verify the information was honest and accurate. Additionally, participants reviewed what they said and provided feedback on any revisions needed to the documentation. After transcript review, I uploaded the participants' responses to NVivo to manage, analyze, code, and report the data. In addition, I started manually coding the data from each participant transcript. The participants' information and a copy of all electronic forms, transcripts, and notes were stored on encrypted flash drives. To ensure confidentiality of the data, I used numeric coding of the participants' information. The data were secured in my home. No additional data were collected.

There were variations to the plan described in Chapter 3 regarding data collection. The original proposed study site rejected my study proposal, and I had to use an alternate institution. The IRB at Walden University was notified of the change and provided guidance in obtaining approval from the new study site. A Request for Change in Procedures Form was completed and sent to Walden University's IRB for review, which included updated copies of the consent form, study invitation, and interview questions. In addition, the new study site's IRB approval letter was also submitted for review by Walden University's IRB. The new study site was located in a metropolitan area of the southern United States and had a 2-year JRCERT accredited radiologic technology program. The institutional demographics of the new study site differed from the original site in the population and demographics of students. The new study site had a population of fewer than 1,000 students with the female gender comprising over 80% of the student population. The 2-year radiologic technology program at the study site had four full-time faculty members who consisted of the director, clinical coordinator, and two didactic faculty. No adjunct or part-time faculty were employed for this program at the study site.

I had to update the study invitation and consent form to identify my relationship with the new study site and clarify that my role as a researcher was different from my role at the study site. Faculty members at the new study site reviewed the interview questions. Finally, the interviews were conducted using Zoom instead of in person due to COVID-19. The audio recording was done via the Zoom platform and not through a voice recorder device. Although these variations occurred in the data collection process, all of the necessary steps were followed to obtain approval for these changes. The integrity of this study was not compromised, and rich data were collected. Apart from one participant forgetting about the interview and having to reschedule, there were no unusual circumstances encountered during the data collection process.

Data Analysis

As I began my data analysis, I used bracketing to clear preconceptions and set aside personal experiences that may taint the research process. Also known as mindmapping, bracketing is designed to help keep the researcher objective in the data analysis process and prevent bias (Creswell, 2005; Patton, 2015). I began the data analysis process using inductive coding which included open coding of the data. The participants provided rich responses to the interview questions and I was able to sort the data into broad categories.

The audio recorded interviews were sent to a professional transcription agency once all the interviews were completed. Next, I analyzed the transcribed interviews. The data acquired from the participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation were analyzed first and the data from the participants who did persist from enrollment to graduation were analyzed last. During the data analysis process, I reviewed for emerging ideas several times to ensure all of the information was considered in the coding process. The emerging ideas and themes were listed in a spreadsheet (see Appendix B). At the conclusion of the first coding cycle, 14 codes were identified for participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation and 12 codes were identified for participants who did persist from enrollment to graduation. After completing the inductive coding process, I performed a second axial coding cycle on the data to organize the identified codes into categories. As recommended by Tracy (2019), I also entered each participants' interview transcripts into the NVivo 12 software for electronic data analysis, data management, and data reporting. Utilizing the inductive coding manual process at the beginning of the data analysis process and using the NVivo 12 software helped to solidify the correct themes for this research and ensure non-bias. Below is a discussion of the specific codes, categories, and themes that emerged from the data analysis process, followed by a discussion of discrepant cases.

Before starting the data analysis process, I printed each participant's transcript and separated the responses into two categories: (a) participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation and (b) participants who persisted from enrollment to graduation. While reviewing the participants' responses to the interview questions, I organized and analyzed each question. I completed this for both groups of participants before moving on to open coding. Using open coding, I made notations and comments in the margins. I highlighted common words or phrases in the transcripts and began to identify the participants' experiences and perceptions regarding their persistence in the 2year radiologic technology program at the local site. I marked information identified by the participant as important and assigned codes to excerpts from each participant's responses. I searched for related codes and established categories among the responses. Next, I performed axial coding by grouping the open codes into the categories determined by how they were connected to develop themes. I repeated this process for each interview question for each of the two groups.

The responses to the interview questions from multiple participants who attended the 2-year radiologic technology program at different times and who have different viewpoints helped me triangulate the data, which helped facilitate a deeper understanding (see Patton, 2015). First, I identified codes using words and short phrases from each participant's responses. Second, I grouped the codes to form categories. Third, I identified each category and developed themes (see Appendix B). I determined no follow-up interviews for clarifications or explanations were needed.

As themes emerged, I reviewed the comments and bracketed any thoughts, assumptions, and preconceptions I had about student persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs. Each participant's response was transferred into NVivo 12 to manage, analyze, and report the data. The NVivo 12 software demonstrated links and connections among different aspects of the participants' responses. Several themes emerged as I repeated the process of advancing from codes into categories and ultimately themes. The use of NVivo 12 software in the coding process confirmed the themes identified during the manual coding process.

The conceptual framework for this study was derived from the literature and served as a comparison base for the available concepts with what was found during the study. Although theory and literature formed the basis for this study, I relied on the responses of the seven participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation and the seven participants who persisted from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program to discover emerging themes from the interviews and the open-ended questions (see Appendix A). From the initial interviews, significant themes emerged that helped provide a deeper understanding of the participants' perceptions.

Open and axial coding were used in the manual coding process. During this process, several emerging ideas were revealed and subsequently organized into themes. For the participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation, the emerging themes identified through manual coding included the following: (a) resources, (b) family/friend support, (c) ready to learn, and (d) personal. For participants who did persist from enrollment to graduation, the emerging themes were: (a) motivation, (b) preparedness, (c) support systems, and (d) confidence. The use of NVivo 12 software provided an automated mechanism for coding the qualitative data. NVivo 12 identified (a) money/resources, (b) support, (c) preparedness/readiness, and (d) personal as categories for the participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation. Additional categories were identified for participants who did persist from enrollment to graduation and include: (a) self-motivation, (b) preparedness, (c) emotional/social support, and (d) confidence/self-belief. These categories were organized based on the emerging ideas and resulted in a total of eight categories. Four themes were developed from the seven participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation and four themes were developed from the seven participants who persisted from enrollment to graduation. All eight themes were synonymous with the participants' views and

perceptions of their experiences while enrolled in the 2-year radiologic technology program which led them to persistence or to leave the program.

While each participant is unique, each group provided similar responses that formed the emerging themes for each group. The overall themes identified were (a) financial issues, (b) lack of support, (c) student readiness issues, and (d) personal issues for those participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation. For the participants who did persist from enrollment to graduation additional themes were identified and include (a) autonomy, (b) preparedness, (c) connectedness, and (d) selfefficacy. There was overlap in some of the identified themes in this study; however, each theme was perceived differently by the participants. In some cases, the identified theme was a positive influencer in the success of a student, and in other situations, the opposite was true. For example, the theme of connectedness was identified as a positive influencer for persistence in this study. However, two participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation acknowledged they felt connected with their cohort, but this did not lead to persistence in the 2-year radiologic technology program. Additionally, preparedness was also identified as a positive influencer in student persistence. Although every participant who persisted to graduation in the program completed some or all the general education courses required in the curriculum, so did most of the participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation. Therefore, preparedness includes more than just taking general education courses or completing some college courses and it can have very different outcomes depending on the individual's situation. Each theme will be presented and explained beginning with the four themes identified by the participants

who did not persist from enrollment to graduation and ending with the four themes identified by the participants who did persist from enrollment to graduation.

Financial Issues

The first theme to emerge from data analysis was financial issues. Many students who attended this radiologic technology program are independent and supported themselves. Participant W15 explained:

I had to work full-time to help cover my expenses, but also try to do the program full-time as well. So that was a big struggle for me, as far as everything goes, just because, I mean, you work full-time and you get off and you're exhausted and you're trying to study but you're falling asleep.

Another participant, W16, stated:

I was working 40 plus hours a week and the program was hard. I expected that I would be able to work more since it was a 2-year program. But I continued to work because I had to pay my bills.

In addition to financial issues the participants acknowledged, many also experienced additional challenges to their success and ultimate persistence in the radiologic technology program.

Lack of Support

The second theme to emerge from data analysis was lack of support. Lack of support refers to encouragement, positive reinforcement, respect of time, and respect of obligations from family and friends. Participant W15 stated:

Then also, I tried to live with my parents for a while in order to do the program. I couldn't study, I couldn't focus. I'd try to study, and they would come in and all of a sudden have like an hour-long conversation with me.

Another participant, W14, explained, "There's no time to play and have fun time. My friends did not understand and tried to pressure me to go out instead of study." Multiple participants noted that because the radiologic technology program was only 2-years, family members and friends did not think it would require as much time and commitment. Instead of supporting their efforts, some family and friends used guilt to pressure the participants away from their studies.

For some students in college, maintaining a positive relationship with family and friends is a way to have a constant support system. This support system should allow students to share their ups and downs in their scholarly experiences. However, this is not always the case. As participant W16 stated, "When I would have a bad day or doubt if I made the right decision about school, my friends would tell me to quit. They would remind me that I already had a job and was making money." He also went on to explain, "My mom was no better. She always questioned why I was spending money on school when I had a job. It never made sense to her." Without the support of family and friends to listen, encourage, and build up confidence, some students have a harder time achieving their goals which can lead to a lack of persistence.

Student Readiness Issues

The third theme to emerge from data analysis was student readiness issues. Student readiness issues included lack of preparation for college, not investigating the program, and not investigating the profession. Preparation for college included visiting the campus, getting financials in order, figuring out work schedule while going to college, and understanding the time commitment. Several participants never visited the campus before the first day at orientation. One participant, W19, moved to the area right before the program started. She stated, "So, the first day was my first time on campus. But I think if I had lived in the area, it would have been good because I would have been able to go tour the campus and everything." Visiting a college campus before you apply, or attend is important to see the city and college in person. This provides the student the opportunity to see the surroundings, soak up the atmosphere, and see if it is what he or she wants before making the commitment.

In addition to visiting the college, it is important for students to get their financials in order and have a plan for paying for their education. Some of the participants took out loans to help pay for school; however, this just covered the cost of tuition, books, and uniforms. The remaining expenses of everyday life were never factored into their educational plan. Participant W16 stated:

I knew how I was paying for my classes, but the cost of my apartment, food, gas, and spending money was not a priority until I began the program. The instructors talked to me about how many hours I was working and my declining academic performance, but I had to work. I had to eat. I had to live.

In addition to needing the financial support for essential daily living expenses, several participants identified other expenses they incurred prior to enrolling in the program.

Whether it was credit card debt, car payments, or previous college debt, participants described the need to work to pay for these expenses.

While some participants successfully navigated working while in the radiologic technology program, several participants were not able to develop and work schedule conducive to successful completion of the program. As several participants stated they had to work while enrolled, some worked part-time while others had to work full-time. Those who worked full-time did so during the week after class or clinical but worked until late in the evening. Participant W16 stated, "I was a bartender while in school. I worked over 40-hours a week and worked until one or two in the morning. Getting up at six to be at school at by seven was a chore." Another participant, W15 explained:

Definitely having to work was a challenge because a lot of times I would leave from clinicals and go straight to work. When I had a day off, I said I would study, but I didn't because I was tired. So, I just kept trying to shove a lot of information in, at one time with the full-time work schedule.

The lack of a plan that allowed time for class, clinical, studying, and work while enrolled created additional stress for participants facing this issue.

In addition to navigating college preparedness by visiting the college, organizing finances, and developing a conducive work-school balance, understanding the time commitment required for the radiologic technology program is important. A misconception by several participants was the rigor of this 2-year radiologic technology program. As one participant, W14, stated, "I applied because I wanted to complete a program that I could finish in two years. I thought a 2-year program would be easier and

less time would be required to be successful." The radiologic technology program is a clinical program, meaning it includes more than didactic learning.

Attending an information session at the institution or inquiring about the radiologic technology program prior to applying or enrolling would help to identify and clarify program requirements. During the information session, information is presented about the college and the individual programs. The structure, curriculum, rigor, and time commitment are discussed during these sessions. Investigating the program before beginning the program could prove advantageous to diminish some of the misconceptions about the program.

In addition to learning more about the program, learning more about the profession is also recommended. Shadowing provides the opportunity to see the responsibilities of the profession and to ask questions of technologists working in health care. Reading about the profession or seeing it on television is not the same as seeing first-hand. One participant, W20, stated, "When I shadowed, I was surprised at all of the patient care associated with the job. I also didn't know we would have to do certain procedures like barium enemas." Investigating the profession is important as this career is not one dimensional but has many facets.

Personal Issues

The fourth theme to emerge from data analysis was personal issues. Personal issues noted as reasons for leaving included: (a) physical injury, (b) death of parent, (c) mental health, and (d) wanting to start a family.

One participant, W18 stated, "While in the program, I reinjured my left ankle following having had surgery on it earlier in the year. I ended up needing a revision." Participant W14 explained his experience:

But what really threw me off was the death of my father. I kept trying to bury everything the best I could, and I guess it just exploded at some point. And it just wasn't fair for me to continue. It wasn't genuine at that point.

Four participants stated their mental health was the reason they withdrew from the program. Participant W15 stated, "My mental health was not well. I didn't realize it until it was too far, and it really needed to be fixed before I could proceed." Another participant noted, "I was burnt out and overwhelmed." In addition to these personal issues, one participant, W17, explained:

I always envisioned having a family. And I was at a point in my life where I knew kids were in the picture sooner rather than later. So, all of that together made me start rethinking if this was the right career path for the lifestyle that I knew I wanted.

These personal issues affected the participants in different ways; however, these reasons were listed as to why every one of the participants ultimately withdrew from the program.

The data analysis revealed autonomy, preparedness, connectedness, and selfefficacy as the themes for the participants who persisted from enrollment to graduation. Again, each of these participants is unique, but their responses were similar and formed the themes for this group.

Autonomy

Autonomy was the fifth theme to emerge from the data analysis and included selfmotivation, being "in control", focusing on the "end goal", achievement, success, and obtaining a job. Autonomy emerged as a theme because each participant consistently described self-motivation in and having control of their education. Participant A5 stated, "I stayed in the program because I knew my end game. I knew what I wanted and what it would take to get there." Another participant, A11, explained:

One thing, I was very motivated to prove people wrong that told me I wasn't going to do it. That for me was a big motivation. I'm going to prove you wrong. I had a lot of motivation, but of course the fact that I liked it in itself was my biggest motivation. And then everything else pushed me even more.

Participant A7 noted, "I stayed in the program because I knew this was something I really wanted to do, and I knew it was well worth the stress and the difficulty of the classwork and the clinicals and everything." Participant A6 also stated, "I knew this is what I wanted to do and was motivated to be successful." Self-motivation and making independent decisions affected the participants' persistence from enrollment to graduation. Autonomy was instrumental in the success of these participants.

Preparedness

The sixth theme to emerge from the data analysis was preparedness. One hundred percent of the participants who persisted from enrollment to graduation had completed most, if not all, of the required general education courses outlined in the radiologic technology program. Participant A7 stated, "Having all of my general education classes finished before I started the program was very beneficial. I was able to focus completely on my RAD courses which I think helped in my success in the program." Although not every participant who persisted to graduation completed all the required general education courses before beginning the program. Participant A9 noted:

I started taking general education courses at a community college while applying

for RAD programs. Having a majority of these courses out of the way was helpful

for me. I only had to take one Gen Ed class while in the program.

Another participant, A8, explained, "Since I already had my bachelor-degree in biology, I had most of the required general education classes completed. This made my course load lighter than some of my classmates." In addition to completing coursework prior to beginning the radiologic technology program, some participants job shadowed a radiologic technologist. During the shadowing experiences, participants were able to observe a day-in-the-life of a radiologic technologist and observe them engrossed in the profession. These participants also attended an information session at the study site to obtain information about the radiologic technology program or met with a recruiter to discuss the program.

The participants willingly demonstrated their preparedness for the program in three ways: (a) they completed a majority, if not all, of the required general education courses prior to beginning the radiologic technology program; (b) they shadowed a radiologic technologist in a health care setting; and (c) they attended an information session or met with a recruiter to discuss the program. The participants indicated that their preparedness prior to beginning the radiologic technology program were instrumental in their persistence to graduation. The participants also stated that with less courses to take each semester, they were able to focus mainly on the core radiologic technology courses because they had more time to spend on these classes. Preparedness in beginning the radiologic technology program provided these participants with additional flexibility in the program which helped to reduce some of the stress associated with a clinical program.

Connectedness

The seventh theme to emerge from the data analysis was connectedness. Connectedness refers to social and emotional relationships with others, including family, friends, peers, and instructors. Social connectedness brought comfort and support to the participants and made them feel part of a group. Participant A9 stated, "For me personally, when I started talking to my fellow students, I'm like, oh, it's not just me? It took the pressure off and I didn't feel so much of like, dang, I'm the only one feeling this way." These supportive relationships gave the participants a feeling of belonging and a connectedness in achieving common goals within the program. As explained by participant A7:

But knowing that our teachers and our clinical instructors and everybody believed in us and wanted us to keep moving forward and keep learning and get better, that really helped us through. And it was really exciting to see everyone else get excited when it would finally click and we'd get to where we were trying so hard to be, and it was really nice to just have that support system from start to finish. That was a really big key in keeping with the program and keep going forward each semester.

Supportive relationships with family and friends were also identified as important connections for the participants. Participants acknowledged the support of family and friends helped in their persistence from enrollment to graduation. Participant A11 explained:

Other people were motivating me, like my husband. Throughout the whole two years, he did a lot. He was working. He struggled a lot. He has a business that he was starting at the same time I was starting school, so he was already really busy, but he motivated me because he would help me. His mom helped me a lot. She would watch [my daughter] when I would have to go to school. Just those things in my life that were that support system. If I didn't have it, I couldn't have done it. Other participants responded the radiologic program took a lot of their time and having friends that supported their efforts was valuable in keeping them focused. These relationships positively affected participants' success in the program.

Connectedness with the institution was also identified as instrumental in students' persistence from enrollment to graduation in the radiologic technology program. Although many participants acknowledged participation in some campus events or volunteer activities, they identified their connectedness with the instructors as a major positive factor in their success. Participant A7 noted:

And then overall, I know I talked about this earlier, but with my experience at the school, I really, really enjoyed how much camaraderie we had with our instructors

and how we felt like we could go [them] to talk about our different questions and what we were struggling with in class or clinical, how we could get a little extra help, get support, answer questions for us. I really think that that played a big factor into all of our success in the program. Just getting that extra reassurance and that extra support to keep us moving forward and get through the different classes each semester, it was really, really, helpful, both from an education point and a personal point.

Additionally, participant A10 stated, "The instructors are great and a major factor in students' success. They are highly one of the reasons I was able to complete the program. Their commitment to their students and the program is unmatched." Participant A5 identified connectedness on many levels was essential by stating:

Support, support, support - from not only the instructors but other students, and the technologists they are working with. I liked the closeness. I know for x-ray programs we had a larger class size than a lot even locally and even some that aren't local. But I've still felt like we were a very tight knit group, and the teachers were very also tight knit with us, and everyone was very close and concerned and willing to help everyone out. It was not like going and doing your bachelor's degree, where essentially you're in a class and you're on your own. Everyone cared how you did. Most of the techs in clinical cared how you were doing. Everyone was very excited that you were there, everyone was happy to help you learn, and everyone kind of went out of their way, especially the teachers in the school itself, to make sure that you were doing well and to reach out and to make sure that if you needed help, you got it. That's what I really liked, was how much everyone just kind of cared about you and was so happy that you were in the program and they were like, 'Yes, let's do this.' It was just the general excitement. Like, yes, we've got this, we can do this kind of thing. We had that attitude the whole time.

I discovered that many participants faced challenges during the program, but the social and emotional connectedness they had with others while enrolled in the program encouraged their success and persistence to graduation.

Self-Efficacy

The eighth theme to emerge from data analysis was self-efficacy. One's belief in their ability to succeed in a given task was identified as instrumental in persistence in the 2-year radiologic technology program. Participant A8 noted, "I like structure, but it's also like I'm a sink or swim person, and if you throw something at me, I'm going to swim." Self-efficacy also comes from one's past experiences and perseverance and resilience to overcome obstacles. Several participants identified challenges during their time in the program; however, high levels of self-efficacy were important in the participants' achievements and persistence in the program.

One participant, A9, stated:

I felt like I had to rethink academics and studying altogether. Because prior to this, I have always been the top of my class type thing. I won't say, I was prideful about it, but I thought I knew how to study, and I thought I knew what studying methods worked for me and the type of learner I was. But, when I was taking the
tests, I was passing, but I still felt like I was basically like treading water. And then of course you have the lab aspect and the clinicals. There's not a lot of times in traditional education in high school or even in college where you're asked to apply what you learned other than like maybe writing a paper. I knew it in theory, but then to make myself actually do it, it's just something completely different. And then on top of that, having to be tested. And for me for, for like a performance, and performing is something I've never enjoyed. It always makes me very anxious. So those are the two main things I had to overcome was trying to find a good study method and then the clinical aspect of working with people and constantly feeling like I had to perform.

Her previous experiences with academic success helped to facilitate a positive result in working through the obstacles encountered in the radiologic technology program. Again, a high level of self-efficacy promoted resiliency and persistence in the face of these challenges.

Some participants faced personal family obstacles while enrolled in the radiologic technology program. One participant, A11, explained:

I understand it was my choice to go to school with a baby and being married. But a lot of people in my class, they went home, they still lived at their parents. They didn't have a lot to do when they got home other than do their homework. But I went home, I had to cook, I had to clean, had to take care of [my baby] her. There was a lot of stuff I had to do. That, in itself, always made me want to quit. I have too much going on in my personal life. I can't do this. It was a lot to convince myself every day, yes, I can do it.

While another participant was pregnant and had a baby during the program she stated, "I needed to start my career, I was starting a family and I could not afford to start this program and not complete it." These participants displayed a high-level of resiliency and perseverance by their proactive nature in planning and forging through difficult challenges. Belief in oneself to succeed and achieve their goals is significant in student persistence.

In addition to how the themes of connectedness and preparedness influenced participants differently one discrepancy was noted during data analysis which contradicts the theme of personal issues. Although 100% of the participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation cited personal issues as the reason they withdrew, participant A10 also experienced personal challenges but persisted to graduation. Not only did she have a baby during her time in the program, but her father died unexpectedly. I will elaborate further how persistence is tied to the four identified themes found in this study. These discrepant cases were included in the data analysis to promote a holistic approach in the review of data. Although an identified theme affected a participant in a certain way, it is important to acknowledge its effect on all participants. These discrepancies were unexpected but illustrate the importance of capturing the subjective experiences of every participant in the study.

Results

The findings of this study center on the experiences of 14 participants, seven who did not persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program and seven who did persist from enrollment to graduation. The participants' responses to the interview questions provided emerging themes. Each theme is presented and explained beginning with Research Question 1 and ending with Research Question 2. Two research questions guided this study.

Research Question 1

What are the students' perceptions of why they did not persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area in the southern United States? Participants reported not persisting from enrollment to graduation due to four reasons: (a) financial issues, (b) lack of support, (c) student readiness issues, and (d) personal issues.

Financial issues. Seventy-one percent of the participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation worked part- or full-time while attending the program. One participant worked over 40-hours a week while enrolled. The participants noted how financial issues impacted their studies, preparation for each day, motivation, and that it added stress to their lives. Financial insecurity impacted participants' studies, preparation for class and clinical, and motivation in a negative manner. Seventy-one percent of the participants said they had to work while in school. Two participants, W15 and W16, worked full-time while enrolled and one stated he worked over 40-hours per week. Of the seventy-one percent who worked while enrolled, 100% were solely responsible for the cost of their education. Participant W20 noted, "I didn't plan well for my education and chose work over school many weeks." One participant, W16, stated, "I was a bartender while in school. I worked over 40-hours a week and worked until one or two in the morning." Another participant, W15 explained:

Definitely having to work was a challenge because a lot of times I would leave from clinicals and go straight to work. When I had a day off, I said I would study, but I didn't because I was tired. So, I just kept trying to shove a lot of information in, at one time with the full-time work schedule.

Participant W16 stated:

I knew how I was paying for my classes, but the cost of my apartment, food, gas, and spending money was not a priority until I began the program. The instructors talked to me about how many hours I was working and my declining academic performance, but I had to work. I had to eat. I had to live.

Participants had less time to study and prepare for their classes due to the amount of time they had to work each week. Since time was limited to fully prepare for learning, participants felt less motivated to do well. As the pressures of balancing work with their education, participants experienced increased stress-levels in their daily lives. W16 described: "I was working a full-time job, but the program schedule was also very demanding. I didn't study like I should have and found myself playing catch-up every week." Almost all the participants who had to work echoed this type of response. Another example of how the need to work affected their studies, preparedness, motivation, and stress is explained by participant W15: "So that [work] was a big struggle for me, as far as everything goes, just because, I mean, you work fulltime, and you get off and you're exhausted. You're trying to study, but you're half falling asleep." Participants made the decision to work while enrolled in the program to pay for expenses. Additional participants noted that the stress of having to work added to the stress they already felt while enrolled in the program. Participant W17 stated, "I only have to work 20-hours a week but working on top of my classes and clinical requirements was mentally and emotionally exhausting. I never felt prepared." Although not all participants experienced the same level of financial issues, this was still identified as negatively affecting most student persistence.

Lack of support. Participants discussed issues with lack of emotional support from family and friends. This lack of encouragement, positive reinforcement, and respect of time and obligations had a negative effect on them personally. Participants noted that when family members did not provide encouragement or respect their educational commitment, they were quick to stop studying and engage in extracurricular activities. Participant W19 explained, "My parents supported my educational goal, but they did not want me to be so far away from home. Because of this, I did not feel supported while I was in the program." Participant W15 stated:

Then also, I tried to live with my parents for a while in order to do the program. I couldn't study, I couldn't focus. I'd try to study, and they would come in and all of a sudden have like an hour-long conversation with me.

The mother of participant W16 questioned his choice to attend the program since he already had a job and was making money. He stated, "After a while, I began to think the same. Why am I going to school, going into more debt, and barely getting by?" As participant W20 noted, "I liked to participate in intermural sports on the weekends, but I wouldn't hesitate to leave my studies to practice and hangout with my friends." When the emotional support and encouragement is lacking from family and friends, persisting and successful completion of educational goals becomes more difficult.

Student readiness issues. The lack of readiness for one's educational journey includes the lack of preparation for college, not investigating the program, and not investigating the profession. Of the seven participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation, 86% noted student readiness issues. Some of the participants began the radiologic technology program without visiting the campus and without asking any questions about the program or profession. Participant W14 stated, "Well, my initial goal was to be a radiation therapist and I had to get through the rad tech program to get to that. That was my initial goal." He went on to state, "It was harder than I expected it to be." Only two participants, W18 and W20, shadowed a radiologic technologist prior to starting the program and only participant W18 attended an information session at the institution prior to enrolling in the radiologic technology program. Participant W19 stated, "So, the first day was my first time on campus." With the lack of knowledge about the college and the program she was not ready for this type of educational experience. She went on to state, "I've always been kind of a wing-it-type in school anyways, and I've done fine. But this is a program you can't wing." Although many of the participants had some college experience or even a bachelor-degree, they underestimated the rigor of the 2-year radiologic technology program. Participant W20 explained, "I think my

biggest concern during the program was not giving myself enough time post-undergrad." One participant encountered readiness issues in the lack of preparation for the program itself. Participant W17 stated, "For me, if my personal life was a little different, I wouldn't have found an issue in [the program] it. A lot of it just had to do with my drive, my having a family at home, and things like that that made me want to come home more than stay at school." Readiness for pursuing one's education is instrumental in achieving success.

Personal issues. Personal issues were acknowledged by 100% of the participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation as the reason for leaving the radiologic technology program. No matter the personal challenge each experienced, they did not persevere and persist in the program. The participants in this study experienced medical injury, death of a father, the need to start a family, and mental health issues. Participant W14 explained, "But what really threw me off was the death of my father. I kept trying to bury everything the best I could, and I guess it just exploded at some point." Four participants stated their mental health were the reason they withdrew from the program. Participant W15 stated, "My mental health was not well. I didn't realize it until it was too far, and it really needed to be fixed before I could proceed." Another participant noted, "I was burnt out and overwhelmed." In addition to these personal issues, one participant, W17, explained:

I always envisioned having a family. And I was at a point in my life where I knew kids were in the picture sooner rather than later. So, all of that together made me

start rethinking if this was the right career path for the lifestyle that I knew I wanted.

In all the personal challenges experienced by these participants, none of the participants relied on family or friends to work through the issues. Participant W19 explained, "I couldn't tell my parents what I was going through. They didn't want me to move away from home to attend school. They didn't understand my need to get away. I wasn't going to let them know they were right." Another participant, W16 noted, "I had to handle things on my own. My mom wasn't supportive, and my friends didn't want me in school either." Participant W18 stated, "My parents knew what I was dealing with medically, but what could they do? They said it was my decision. I had to make a decision that was right for me." Without the support of family and friends, personal issues may have negatively influenced student persistence from enrollment to graduation in the program.

Research Question 2

What are the students' perceptions of what helped them persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States? Participants who persisted from enrollment to graduation discussed four reasons: (a) autonomy, (b) preparedness, (c) connectedness, and (d) self-efficacy.

Autonomy. Autonomy refers to independence and to the individual's perceptions that the learning environment is interactive rather than controlled (Simon et al., 2015). Autonomy develops in individuals when they feel supported to explore, take initiative, and develop solutions to problems (Deci & Ryan, 1985). Corwin et al. (2018) concluded that students are intrinsically motivated when their need for autonomy is met, resulting in a sense of ownership. Subsequently, ownership of their coursework is positively related to student success and persistence. One hundred percent of the seven participants who persisted from enrollment to graduation indicated self-motivation was a key to their success in persistence. Many were self-motivated and self-directed, like participant A11, who stated, "I had a lot of motivation, but of course the fact that I liked it in itself was my biggest motivation." As stated by participant A10, "People have to be very self-motivated and determined and I think the workload can be discouraging if you are not all in." Participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation echoed this thought process.

Other participants discussed how the support from the faculty and the technologists in the clinical setting to take initiative and get involved was helpful to their learning and success in the program. Participant A8 explained:

But I've still felt like we were a very tight knit group, and the teachers were very also tight knit with us, and everyone was very close and concerned and willing to help everyone out. It was not like going and doing your bachelor's degree, where essentially you're in a class and you're on your own. Everyone cared how you did. Most of the techs in clinical cared how you were doing.

Additionally, participant A5 stated, "Support, support, support, from not only the instructors but other students, and the technologists in clinical." Instead of feeling like their behaviors were being controlled, the participants' felt they were supported. Participant A7 stated:

And it [the support] did prepare me to go to the senior level where you have a little more freedom. You learn to work a little bit more, thinking on your own. I think the first year really set me up for good success for the rest of the program. Autonomy was shown to positively affect the participants' persistence from enrollment to graduation.

Preparedness. Taking ownership and being accountable for one's learning is important when beginning an education program. Asking questions, visiting the campus, and reviewing the curriculum are valuable steps in preparation to learn. Participant A9 stated, "I researched the profession in depth to decide what path to pursue. I attended several orientation sessions at different colleges, and I interviewed with someone before beginning the program." In addition to completing coursework prior to beginning the radiologic technology program, five out of the seven participants who persisted from enrollment to graduation job shadowed a radiologic technologist. Participant A6 noted,

Well, I didn't know that I actually wanted to be a radiologic technologist. I actually went to a four-year college for a year. And then I was confused, didn't know what I wanted to do. And then that summer I actually went and shadowed at [local hospital]. I talked to someone there about radiologic technology and they told me about [the] program. I went to an information session, went through the application process, and interviewed with someone at the college.

Participant A7 explained:

I'm going to state that I think it was helpful for me that I had my general education classes done prior to getting into the program. I think that that allowed

105

me a lot more time to focus on the x-ray material and dedicating time to that aspect of it. I know that I had classmates that were doing a couple of Gen Ed classes on top of our classes in x-ray, and it felt like a lot at times. So, I think that if you are in the position to get some of those Gen Ed classes done before doing the program, I think that's a great thing to do.

Several of the participants echoed this response in their responses. Participant A10 stated, "I already had all the general education classes done when I applied." Participant A5 noted, "I transferred in the majority of the general education courses. This allowed me to focus on the radiology classes and I think this helped me be successful." Another participant, A11, acknowledged the importance of preparation by stating,

I was exposed to radiology, through a co-op placement because I worked at the hospital in the medical physics department. I worked alongside physicists that did treatment planning for cancer patients for the radiation therapy treatments. However, once I started in the radiologic technology program, I liked it so much that I didn't want to do radiation therapy anymore.

Preparation proved to be instrumental in the participants' persistence from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program.

Connectedness. Connectedness refers to social and emotional relationships with others, including family, friends, peers, and instructors. Participant A8 noted, "I think that was a big reason why I stayed in because everyone just cared so much." She went on to state:

Everyone was very excited that you were there, everyone was happy to help you learn, and everyone kind of went out of their way, especially the teachers in the school itself, to make sure that you were doing well and to reach out and to make sure that if you needed help, you got it.

Echoing this sentiment was participant A10 who stated, "The instructors were great and a major factor in students' success. They are highly one of the reasons I was able to complete the program." And participant A7 explained:

But knowing that our teachers and our clinical instructors and everybody believed in us and wanted us to keep moving forward and keep learning and get better, that's what really helped us through. And it was really exciting to see everyone else get excited when it would finally click, and we'd get to where we were trying so hard to be. It was really nice to just have the support system from start to finish. That was a really big key in keeping with the program and keep going forward each semester.

One hundred percent of the participants studied weekly with other program students. Some participants formed weekly study groups while others carved out time to study before a test. Participant A9 stated, "I only studied with others about an hour before a test. My schedule didn't allow me to participate in study groups." Participant A11 noted, "The only group setting I would do is before a test or something. And that's just due to my other commitments." Although the time spent with other students was sometimes limited, the time spent together enhanced relationships and helped to build a support network. An emotional connection developed among the groups which facilitated a foundation of trust, strength, and respect. Participant A8 stated, "I was having a ton of fun. I mean, I thoroughly enjoyed it. I loved the people that I was with. I loved the people in my class." Social and emotional connectedness helped form a bond amongst the participants and their peers. Participant A6 stated, "The class size was smaller, and we really got to know one another. We became a family and were able to celebrate to accomplishments and talk each other through the bad days." Relationships with others seemed to be significant to student persistence.

Self-efficacy. The belief in oneself to succeed comes from one's past experiences and perseverance and resilience to overcome obstacles. Participant A8 explained:

So, I'm okay with getting thrown into things. I like structure, but it's also like I'm a sink or swim person, and if you throw something at me, I'm going to swim. I like staying busy and I like being busy, so I think how busy the program was, it was really good for me. I enjoyed it.

Another participant, A11, stated, "I wanted to do it and I didn't want to quit just because it was hard. Once I got into it, I actually liked it. I've been successful completing hard courses before so I knew I could do this." Although several participants identified challenges during their time in the program, each persisted in the program. Many participants discussed the difficult aspect of working with certain technologists in the clinical environment. Instead of giving up, they met the challenge head-on. Participants also learned from their challenging experiences. As stated by participant A6, "[I] definitely learned how to get along with technologists that I didn't see eye to eye with. That really helped me learn how to deal with those stressful type situations." Participant A9 described one experience:

I was one of the younger people in general in the workplace, most people were older. Even with patients, it was just like, and how old are you? Are you able to do this? I just started being assertive to a certain degree in order to do what I needed to do.

Another participant, A5, experienced a larger obstacle when she imaged the wrong leg. She explained:

I experienced an error in performing an exam on the wrong leg and the tech I was with did not want me to report it. It placed me in a dilemma ethically, but I reported it and then dealt with the ramifications of dealing with the technologist at the hospital."

Resilience and perseverance are key to self-efficacy (Elliott, 2016). According to Bandura (1997), every experience impacts one's self-efficacy. Encouraging autonomy and preparedness as well as, continuing to support and promote self-efficacy among students is vital to student achievement and success. As shown in Figure 1, autonomy, preparedness, connectedness, and self-efficacy are crucial to student persistence.



Figure 1. Student persistence themes.

In theory, with the themes that emerged from data analysis on the responses from the participants who did not persist to from enrollment to graduation, one participant who was successful should not have been successful. Participant A10 faced significant personal issues while enrolled in the program. Participant A10 stated, "I became pregnant during the program and had the baby earlier than expected. Then, my dad died unexpectedly. I didn't give up and I graduated on time." Additionally she had to work while in the program and her closest support system lived in a different state. This discrepancy in the data is important because it illustrates the significance that autonomy, preparedness, connectedness, and self-efficacy play in persistence.

Research Question 1 addressed the students' perceptions of why they did not persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area in the southern United States. The participants in the study reported not persisting from enrollment to graduation due to four reasons: (a) financial issues, (b) lack of support, (c) student readiness issues, and (d) personal issues. Research Question 2 addressed the students' perceptions of what helped them persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States? Participants who persisted from enrollment to graduation discussed four reasons for their success: (a) autonomy, (b) preparedness, (c) connectedness, and (d) self-efficacy.

Despite the age difference between these participants, they all attended the same 2-year radiologic technology program between 2014-2019. The seven participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation provided varied responses to the interview questions while the seven participants who persisted to graduation had similar responses to the interview questions. Discrepancies were noted in the themes of connectedness, preparedness, and personal issues and their effect on student persistence. Although 100% of the participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation cited personal issues as the reason they withdrew, participant A10 also experienced personal challenges but persisted to graduation. Not only did she have a baby during her time in the program, but her father died unexpectedly. These discrepant cases provide rich data and were included in the data analysis process. Although an identified theme affected a participant in a certain way, it is important to acknowledge its effect on all participants. Again, it is important to capture the subjective experiences of every participant in the study. This was a diverse group of participants whose individual experiences were shared in this study.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

In Chapter 3, I discussed trustworthiness for qualitative research in relation to credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. In this section, I describe the implementation of strategies to enhance the trustworthiness of the research. According to Lincoln and Guba (1985) credibility suggests that the outcomes are descriptive of the participants' responses. To ensure credibility, I used strategies such as audio recording the interviews and member checking. Recording the interviews ensured accuracy of the data and allowed me to review the data often. Additionally, having the recordings and transcripts helped me eliminate any biases that I may have taken away from the interview or misinterpreting what the participant meant when responding to a question. Member checking was also significant to the credibility of my research (see Creswell, 2005); therefore, I used member checking to ensure participants reviewed their interview transcript and confirm the experiences captured in the interview were representative of their perceptions. I shared the transcripts with each participant to help verify the information was honest and accurate. This process also allowed participants to review what they said and add or edit any information, if needed. Credibility for this study occurred with data saturation (see Creswell, 2005). I achieved data saturation when no new information surfaced, and no new significant themes emerged. To further establish credibility, I acknowledged my role as an educator in radiologic sciences with each participant.

Ravitch and Carl (2016) described transferability as "the way in which qualitative studies can be applicable, or transferable, to broader contexts while still maintaining their

context specific richness" (p. 189). To ensure transferability, I used strategies such as providing detailed descriptions of the setting, participants, and findings along with sufficient quotes from the participants. The data collected through audio recordings and note taking were given to a professional transcription agency to ensure all data was captured, reviewed, and presented. I gave careful attention to selecting the study sample. I used a purposeful sample of seven individuals who did not persist from enrollment to graduation of the 2-year radiologic technology program and seven individuals who persisted from enrollment to graduation.

I used dependability strategies to make certain my findings are consistent and could be replicated. I verified the participants' responses from the interviews and the themes that emerged from the participants' responses in the interviews. I verified all responses with the participants to ensure accuracy of the data. This process of member checking (see Creswell, 2005) also enhanced trustworthiness of this basic qualitative study. Lincoln and Guba (1985) suggested that dependability could occur through an audit trail. I used participants' exact responses from their interviews to highlight themes and verified with the participants the accuracy of their perceptions.

Acknowledging and exploring the ways that our biases and prejudices affect our interpretation of the data is the goal of confirmability. I reflected critically on myself during this study. Through debriefing sessions with my dissertation chair and through the strategy of reflexivity (Lincoln & Guba, 1985), I reviewed my thoughts and theories. This process allowed me to address any flaws and allowed me to develop ideas and interpretations in a forum that would call attention to any bias I have as a researcher. The

discussions also allowed me to check and recheck the data. I held myself accountable during this study. I coded the data in the same way throughout the coding process which enhanced intra-coder reliability. The use of an external transcription agency lessened the chance of any personal bias in transcribing the interview recordings. The coding of data was done manually and by use of the NVivo 12 coding software program. NVivo 12 identified money/resources, support, preparedness/readiness, and personal as categories for the participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation. Additional categories were identified for participants who did persist from enrollment to graduation and include self-motivation, preparedness, emotional/social support, and confidence/selfbelief. These categories were organized based on the emerging ideas and resulted in a total of eight themes: (a) financial issues, (b) lack of support, (c) student readiness issues, (d) personal issues, (e) autonomy, (f) preparedness, (g) connectedness, and (h) selfefficacy. By employing two mechanisms in which to code the transcribed data, intercoder reliability increased, thus increasing the trustworthiness of the results.

Summary

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore how students describe their perceptions of experiences at the local college that either encouraged them to persist to graduation or quit attending in a metropolitan area of the southern United States. The purposeful sample of participants provided their thoughts, feelings, and perceptions regarding their experiences in the 2-year radiologic technology program. From the participants' responses, a better understanding of persistence strategies emerged. Based on the research questions that guided this study, I developed semi-structured open-ended interview questions that explored student experiences while enrolled in the 2-year radiologic technology program.

Eight themes emerged from the participants' responses to the interview questions. These included financial issues, lack of support, student readiness issues, personal issues, autonomy, preparedness, connectedness, and self-efficacy. These themes related specifically to the two research questions. The themes financial issues, lack of support, student readiness issues, and personal issues relate to the first research question on the perceptions of why participants did not persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program. The themes of autonomy, preparedness, connectedness, and self-efficacy relate to Research Question 2 on the perceptions of why participants persisted from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program.

In Chapter 5, I provide an interpretation of the findings of this study. I explain any limitations to the trustworthiness and recommendations for further research. I discuss the potential opportunities for positive social change that may arise from the findings of this study and recommendations for educational practice to assist 2-year radiologic technology students in persistence from enrollment to graduation.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Student persistence rates in health care programs, including radiologic technology programs, continue to decrease in the United States (Donnell, 2015). Although student persistence has been a research topic for decades, there was a lack of research on student persistence in 2-year institutions. Also, there was much to be learned about persistence of students in 2-year radiologic technology programs. The purpose of this study was to explore how students describe their perceptions of experiences that encouraged them either to persist to graduation or quit attending. I used a basic qualitative design to gain an in-depth understanding of what impediments may influence students to drop out of radiologic technology programs while providing useful information to higher education leaders to improve their understanding of student persistence from enrollment to graduation. This study was needed because it focused on the participants' explanations of their experiences while enrolled in the 2-year radiologic technology program in relation to persistence versus admission criteria. Besides indicating challenges and barriers faced by the participants, this study added to the body of literature regarding student persistence and added information about a population of radiologic technology students that was limited. Additionally, this study focused on the subjective experiences of the participants rather than on the institution itself. Two research questions guided this qualitative study:

RQ1: What are the students' perceptions of why they did not persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States? RQ2: What are the students' perceptions of what helped them persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program in a metropolitan area of the southern United States?

The key findings included the following:

RQ1: Participants identified financial issues, lack of support, student readiness issues, and personal issues as contributing reasons why they did not persist from enrollment to graduation. Many students who attended this radiologic technology program are independent and support themselves. The participants noted how financial issues impacted their studies, preparation for each day, motivation, and stress levels. Participants had less time to study and prepare for their classes due to the amount of time they had to work each week. Because time was limited to prepare for learning, participants felt less motivated to do well. Because of the pressures of balancing work with education, participants experienced increased stress levels in their daily lives and did not persist from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program. In addition, participants indicated that the lack of emotional support, encouragement, positive reinforcement, and respect of time from family and friends had a negative effect on them personally. Participants noted that when family members did not provide encouragement or respect their educational commitment, they were quick to stop studying and engage in other activities. The lack of readiness for an educational journey includes the lack of preparation for college, not investigating the program, and not investigating the profession (Perkins-Holtzclaw & Lampley, 2018). Some of the participants began the radiologic technology program without visiting the campus and without asking questions about the program or profession. If a student embarks on an educational journey with no knowledge or preparation, the likelihood of persistence is diminished (Schmitt & Duggan, 2011). Lastly, personal issues, such as (a) physical injury, (b) death of parent, (c) mental health, and (d) wanting to start a family were identified as the reason participants left the radiologic technology program. No matter the personal challenge each experienced, they did not persist in the program.

• RQ2: Participants identified autonomy, preparedness, connectedness, and self-efficacy as contributing reasons why they persisted from enrollment to graduation. When participants were given support and encouragement to explore, take initiative in situations, and develop solutions to problems, autonomy was increased. As autonomy increased, student persistence from enrollment to graduation also increased. Asking questions, visiting the campus, and reviewing the curriculum were valuable steps in preparation to learn. In addition to completing coursework prior to beginning the radiologic technology program, job shadowing a radiologic technologist proved beneficial to student persistence. The social and emotional relationships a student has with peers, instructors, friends, and family members are integral in creating a positive learning environment. Not only is the social and emotional support of the instructors and clinical technologists important, but the support

provided by family, friends, and peers is equally meaningful. Having these relationships helped students persist. In addition to autonomy, preparedness, and connectedness, the belief in themselves, or self-efficacy, was also important in student persistence. When a student believes in their ability to achieve a goal or complete a task, they have high self-efficacy (Conefrey, 2018). High self-efficacy contributed to persistence from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs.

I was surprised by the overlap in some of the themes identified in this study. I was anticipating a distinct difference between the participants' who did not persist from enrollment to graduation and the participants who did persist from enrollment to graduation. The themes identified in this study overlapped, which suggests that they affected the participants differently. For example, although connectedness was a positive influencer of participants who persisted in the program, it had no effect on participants who felt connected but withdrew from the program anyway. Moreover, participants who experienced significant personal issues while enrolled in the program withdrew before graduation while one participant persevered through two personal issues and persisted to graduation. Based on my experience as a program chair in a 2-year radiologic technology program, I expected the identified themes of work and personal responsibilities/issues. The student population is diverse, and students come to higher education with different needs, wants, experiences, and expectations. Identifying what a student needs, wants, or expects can be difficult; however, this study indicated the importance of helping students in many areas to increase the likelihood of persistence from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs.

In this chapter, I present an interpretation of the findings of this study in relation to the literature and conceptual framework. Additionally, I describe the limitations of the study and provide recommendations for further research. Finally, I discuss implications for positive social change.

Interpretation of the Findings

I interpret the findings within the context of confirmation, disconfirmation, and adding to the body of knowledge concerning the experiences of student persistence in higher education. My interpretation of the findings encompasses not only the literature but also the conceptual framework on which I based this study.

Findings and the Literature

Findings related to aspects identified in the literature explain the participants' decisions to not persist or to persist in 2-year radiologic technology programs. I discuss the themes of financial issues, lack of support, student readiness issues, and personal issues from the students who did not persist, and autonomy, preparedness, connectedness, and self-efficacy from the students who persisted. Details on these themes were presented in Chapter 4. The following sections include a discussion of what these findings confirmed, disconfirmed, and added to the literature.

Confirmed. When asked to describe experiences while enrolled in a 2-year radiologic technology program that influenced their lack of persistence to graduation (RQ1), participants' responses indicated four themes. The findings confirmed the

literature addressing financial issues (Heller, 2001; Hittepole, 2019), lack of support (Chrysikos et al., 2017; Hittepole, 2019; Tinto, 2012), and personal issues (Hittepole, 2019). For example, participants mentioned being unprepared to begin the program by not having their finances settled, which required them to have to work during the program. In addition to the issues of financial difficulty and not being academically prepared, many participants described a lack of social and emotional support from family and friends while enrolled. This finding aligned with literature that environmental factors have more influence on adult student persistence than academic variables (Bean & Metzner, 1985). As described by Bean and Metzner (1985), environmental factors include finances, hours of employment, outside encouragement, and family responsibilities. The less responsibility a student has outside of school, the more likely they are to persist and succeed in the academic environment (MacDonald, 2018). Cabrera et al. (1993) also concluded that individual, environmental, and institutional factors play a role in student persistence. Fong et al. (2016) acknowledged the important role family and friends play in motivation for student persistence. As outside motivation increases, the extrinsic motivation to please others also increases, which can lead to increased persistence. Participants in the current study also described personal issues while enrolled in the program. Personal issues included medical issues, death of a family member, wanting to start a family, and mental health issues. Rizkallah and Seitz (2017) concluded that from year to year, changes occur in the needs, problems, and aspirations of students, as well as what motivates them and satisfies their needs. Motivation is multifaceted and involves biological, emotional, social, and cognitive forces that influence behavior

(Cherry, 2019). When current participants experienced personal issues while enrolled in the program, their motivation changed. As described by Tinto (1993), personal motivation is instrumental in student persistence. Tinto (2005) concluded that student persistence was shown to increase when students felt supported and encouraged. In conjunction with at least one other identified theme, the current participants who experienced a personal issue, such as (a) physical injury, (b) death of parent, (c) mental health, and (d) wanting to start a family, while enrolled were unable to persist to graduation and withdrew from the program.

When asked to describe experiences while enrolled in a 2-year radiologic technology program that influenced their persistence to graduation (RQ2), participants' responses indicated the themes of autonomy, preparedness, connectedness, and selfefficacy. For example, participants mentioned the value of being in control of their learning and believing in themselves to accomplish their educational goals. The selfdirectedness and self-motivation proved instrumental in their persistence throughout the program.

In addition, participants who were prepared to begin the program by taking general education courses within the curriculum also persisted to graduation. These individuals developed a success plan before starting the program. While enrolled, they formed social and emotional relationships with their peers and maintained their relationships with family and friends. These relationships increased persistence among participants. This study confirmed the literature regarding the importance of feeling in control of one's actions and making decisions, or autonomy. Dulfer et al. (2017) and Sogunro (2015) found that autonomy was a positive factor in student persistence. Autonomy has been shown to facilitate the integration of learning, which allows the student to apply their values to new information (Dulfer et al., 2017). An autonomous learner is selfdirected and takes more responsibility and accountability for learning (Dulfer et al., 2017). Similarly, Simon et al. (2015) and Smith and Darvas (2017) concluded that increased autonomy leads to increased motivation and learning, which has a positive effect on persistence. Ryan and Deci (2000) proposed that when students feel autonomous, they are more likely to be intrinsically motivated and to adopt intrinsic goals that promote persistence.

This current study also confirmed the literature regarding the importance of connectedness through social and emotional relationships with family, friends, and peers for student persistence. Additionally, participants described the positive interactions and support of program faculty as a reason for their continued success. Fong et al. (2016) asserted that strong support from family and friends may motivate students to persist. This external motivation could help students more easily overcome obstacles, adapt, and persist through college. The participants in this current study who lacked strong support from family and friends in this current study who lacked strong support from family and friends who reported strong social and emotional relationships with their family, friends, and peers did persist to graduation. Davis et al. (2019) indicated that a student's sense of belonging is predictive of persistence to their second year of education at the institution. Additionally,

Jorgenson et al. (2018) highlighted the importance of social connectedness and a sense of belonging with improved persistence. Likewise, Godor (2017) and Wright et al. (2017) claimed that a balanced social network, social connectedness and integration into the education institution community, and a sense of belonging are positive indicators for student persistence. Tinto (1993) identified the need for student support programs within higher educational programs to increase persistence. Based on the findings of the current study, quality support systems appear to be valuable factors in student persistence.

Lastly, this study also confirmed the literature regarding the importance of selfefficacy in relation to student persistence. The belief in oneself to succeed, or selfefficacy, is a recognized intrinsic motivator for student persistence (Bandura, 1997; Conefrey, 2018; Sogunro, 2015). Elliot (2016) demonstrated that academic and social self-efficacy beliefs were associated with first-year college persistence. Students who have increased self-efficacy and engagement within their first year in the higher education institution have a greater persistence rate (Conefrey, 2018; Elliot, 2016). Bandura (1997) concluded that self-efficacy influences effort, the choices students make, the courses of action they pursue, and task persistence. Enhancing self-efficacy so students feel prepared and capable of achieving academic tasks and fulfilling their academic potential can lead to greater persistence and graduation rates (Soria et al., 2017). Goals and aspirations of the student may change throughout their educational journey; however, self-efficacy remains an important motivational factor to persistence within the institution.

Disconfirmed. Two themes that emerged from this current study that disagreed with the literature were student readiness issues (RQ 1) and preparedness (RQ 2). In this study, I concluded that the participants' lack of readiness to begin the radiologic technology program impacted persistence in a negative way, while preparedness in planning for one's educational program was shown as a positive influence on persistence. These findings challenge previously reported data that some students do not persist in higher education due to institutional factors alone. Tinto's (1993) research included how institutional factors may impact student persistence within higher education. Perkins-Holtzclaw and Lampley (2018) concluded that the higher education institutions accept the responsibility of providing students with resources for success once they are admitted. Likewise, Tinto (2012) determined that student persistence and success is more the responsibility of the higher education institution rather than student based. Subsequently, research by Schmitt and Duggan (2011) and Perkins-Holtzclaw and Lampley concluded similar findings reinforcing the need for higher education institutions to take action to increase student persistence. According to the literature, students should persist from enrollment to graduation if the higher education institution is providing the necessary support and resources. Once a student is admitted into a higher education institution, the institution has a responsibility to provide support services and resources to all students. Not only should the institution provide academic resources, but social support as well. Helping students integrate academically and socially could prove beneficial in promoting persistence from enrollment to graduation.

These findings, especially those that disagree with the literature, suggest that future research is needed in the areas of financial, academic, and personal preparedness before enrolling in an educational program. These factors may shed light on radiologic technology students' ability to persist. Although studies show the importance of different themes in student success and persistence, every student is unique and encounters different life experiences.

Contributions to the literature. Findings from this current study add knowledge to the literature by reporting on the themes that positively influence student persistence in radiologic technology programs. The participants who persisted from enrollment to graduation identified preparedness as a factor in their success. These participants persevered because they had a plan before they started the program and executed their plan throughout the program. Although some of these participants experienced personal issues during their time in the program, their preparedness helped them overcome obstacles and persist. Whereas participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation identified financial issues, student readiness issues, and personal issues as negative influences on their lack of persistence. Financial issues before entering the program, lack of readiness or preparedness to begin the program, and personal issues were shown to negatively impact participants' persistence in this study. Just like students, the factors that affect student persistence is multifaceted.

Conceptual Framework

I viewed the persistence of the participants through the lenses of Ryan and Deci's (1985) self-determination theory and Bean and Metzner's (1985) non-traditional

undergraduate student attrition model. The conceptual frameworks provided the preliminary basis for understanding persistence of the participants in this study.

The theoretical perspective reported in the literature regarding Ryan and Deci's (1985) self-determination theory acknowledged the intrinsic human motivations and personality that focuses on three psychological needs: (a) autonomy, (b) competence, and (c) relatedness. According to the self-determination theory, when these three psychological needs of individuals are met, students' self-determination and selfmotivation are increased, thus increasing student persistence. The participants in this study who persisted from enrollment to graduation identified autonomy, connectedness, and self-efficacy as positive influences in their persistence. Ryan and Deci use the term competence instead of self-efficacy and the term relatedness instead of connectedness; however, these terms are defined the same. Participants acknowledged their intrinsic motivations of believing in themselves, making decisions on their own, self-motivation, and feeling a sense of belonging. Most of the participants who persisted described a high level of autonomy and self-efficacy. Sogunro (2015) concluded that autonomy was a top factor in motivation; however, the relationship between autonomy and self-efficacy is also important. Students with higher levels of autonomy may more likely display higher levels of self-efficacy and higher levels of motivation toward success and persistence. The self-determination theory focuses on the intrinsic motivations of an individual. The participants in this study who persisted from enrollment to graduation expressed intrinsic motivation factors, such as autonomy, self-efficacy, self-determination, and selfmotivation, that positively encouraged their success and persistence. Even with this small

homogenous sample, it was evident from the participants' responses that the selfdetermination theory applies to their persistence in the 2-year radiologic technology program.

In their non-traditional undergraduate student attrition model, Bean and Metzner (1985) proposed that external factors were the main influencers in the persistence of nontraditional students. The non-traditional student attrition model included four sets of variables: (a) academic performance, (b) intent to leave, (c) background, and (d) environmental factors. Bean and Metzner identified finances, hours of employment, outside encouragement, family responsibilities, and opportunity to transfer as environmental factors. The findings of this study revealed that the participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation identified themes that were primarily external factors; Financial issues, lack of support, and personal responsibilities such as work and family responsibilities, all negatively influenced the participants' persistence. Again, even with this small homogenous sample, it was evident from the participants' responses that external factors affected their lack of persistence in the 2-year radiologic technology program. The findings of the study reaffirm Bean and Metzner's findings that environmental factors, such as finances, hours of employment, outside encouragement, and family responsibilities, have a greater impact on departure decisions of adult students than academic variables. Participants in this study discussed the academic difficulties of learning; however, not one participant withdrew from the program due to failing a course. The participants who withdrew from the program attributed their lack of persistence to other factors, including financial issues and needing to work more hours, mental health

issues, physical health issues, death in the family, and starting a family. Although the participants' experiences were individually unique, the data revealed when the participants were dealing with more than one negative influencer they did not persist from enrollment to graduation.

The themes identified for participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation included factors that were in the control of the participant and out of the control of the participant. Factors out of the control of the participants included personal issues, lack of support, and financial issues that arise after enrolling in the program. However, participants are in control of their own readiness to learn. If a student embarks on an educational journey with no knowledge or preparation, the likelihood of persistence is diminished. As so many factors are out of one's control, it is imperative that prospective students plan and prepare for their education prior to enrolling to increase the likelihood of success.

Limitations of the Study

Although this study contributed to understanding student persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs, this study was limited in certain aspects. The first limitation is that only one institution was used to gain perceptions of participants who were enrolled in a 2-year radiologic technology program. The use of multiple study sites would provide data from different 2-year radiologic technology programs which could promote a deeper understanding of student persistence in this student population. The second limitation of the study was the use of a small sample size. Seven participants who did not persist from enrollment to graduation and seven participants who persisted from

enrollment to graduation were interviewed in the study. Although a total of 14 participants is acceptable when using a qualitative research design, a larger sample of each type of student could provide more insight into the persistence of 2-year radiologic technology students. The third limitation of this study was the change in the study site location. The need to move the study to a new location presented a challenge to the trustworthiness of the planned study. To ensure the trustworthiness of the study was not compromised, each interview was audio recorded, notes were kept in a journal and included in the transcription process, member checks were used, and NVivo 12 software was utilized in addition to manual coding. Tracy (2019) acknowledged that employing two mechanisms to code the transcribed data increases intercoder reliability, thus increasing the trustworthiness of the results.

Recommendations

There are several recommendations derived from the findings of this investigation. These recommendations are divided into two categories: Recommendations for Future Studies and Recommendations for Practice.

Recommendations for Future Studies

Recommendation 1: Replication with larger sample size. This study took place at a single 2-year college; a larger sample size could be helpful in a new study. While Creswell (1998) recommended a sample size of 5-25 and Hagaman and Wutich (2016) recommended a sample size of 16 or less for a basic qualitative study, I recommend replication with larger sample size at several 2-year radiologic technology programs. A larger sample size would also allow collection of more demographic data. **Recommendation 2:** Use archived data. A mixed-methods design to included archived data, such as GPAs of previous students and interviews that consist of a larger sample at two or more 2-year radiologic technology programs, is warranted to ascertain the relationship between experiences, academic achievements, and persistence of students who attended a 2-year radiologic technology program. Future research may benefit from incorporating demographic factors, socioeconomic status, and GPAs of students who attended and did not persist and who did persist from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs.

Recommendation 3: A qualitative study with faculty interviews. The participants spent the largest amount of their time on campus in the classroom and in the clinical environment. Some of the participants indicated that faculty were supportive and contributed to student persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs. A qualitative study with faculty interviews should be conducted at a 2-year radiologic technology program to understand the perceptions of faculty experiences with student persistence and explore the role faculty play in persistence.

Recommendation 4: A mixed-methods study of persistence. The participants in this study focused on their experiences while enrolled in the 2-year radiologic technology program. Findings from this study revealed that autonomy, preparedness, connectedness, and self-efficacy were significant indicators for persistence, while financial issues, lack of support, student readiness issues, and personal issues were significant findings for lack of persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs. A mixed-methods study could provide further insights into variables that influence student persistence in 2-year
radiologic technology programs. A mixed-methods approach allows for exploration and quantitative analysis to define the problem and potential solutions. This type of research design could be helpful in specifying attributes or characteristics in which each participant identifies while investigating their individual experiences in persistence. A mixed-methods study in student persistence could promote investigation of the problem from various angles while providing reliable, statistically verified results and subjective information about the experiences of the participants.

Recommendations for Practice

Recommendation 1: Incorporate SmarterMeasure as an entrance

requirement. Common factors for a lack of persistence in the 2-year radiologic technology program were financial issues, lack of support, student readiness issues, and personal issues. Although no one can predict personal issues, the other factors may be easier to identify prior to enrolling in the radiologic technology program. The use of a learning readiness indicator, like SmarterMeasure, helps indicate the degree to which an individual student possesses the attributes, skills and knowledge that contribute to success ("Introduction to SmarterMeasure", 2020). SmarterMeasure assess non-cognitive factors and includes seven major assessment components which measure: (a) individual attributes like motivation and procrastination; (b) life factors such as availability of time, support from family, and finances; (c) learning styles; (d) technical competency; (e) technical knowledge; (f) on-screen reading rate and recall; and (g) typing speed and accuracy. This summative learning readiness tool measures the degree to which students possess the traits needed for success in a higher education environment.

SmarterMeasure serves as an early warning device to identify students who may be deficient in the skills and attributes necessary for success and who may, therefore, be at risk of dropping out of the program. In addition, students can recognize their strengths and identify any weaknesses prior to beginning the program. Therefore, the institution and the student can access resources that will prove advantageous for the student's success and persistence from enrollment to graduation.

Recommendation 2: Required shadowing of the radiologic technology profession. To increase preparedness for the radiologic technology program, shadowing should be an application requirement. Shadowing a radiologic technologist prior to applying for the program will provide the prospective student with information of the responsibilities of a radiologic technologist. In addition, the prospective student can experience the sights and smells in a health care setting. Prospective students can ask questions and learn some aspects related to the profession before investing time and money into the program.

Recommendation 3: Development of a mentoring program. A common factor in the persistence of students enrolled in the 2-year radiologic technology program was connectedness. The social and emotional relationships with others were a significantreason students persisted from enrollment to graduation. The second-year radiologic technology students could serve as mentors to help first-year students with academic, personal, social, and career decisions. In addition, the second-year students can reflect on their experiences while in the program and share their stories with the first-year students. These relationships subsequently may increase student persistence from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs.

Recommendation 4: Development of a student support program. In addition to a student mentoring program, student support programs could prove beneficial in student persistence. The combination of these resources will provide students with multiple options for support and allow the student to utilize the resources that work best to meet their individual needs. Again, the connectedness a student may experience while engaged in a student support program can help foster relationships, increase a student's sense of belonging, and promote student persistence from enrollment to graduation.

Implications

This study has several implications for positive social change and educational practice. This study also has the potential to impact students in 2-year radiologic technology programs as well as higher education institutions, health care settings, and the community. The implications, in addition to my reflections, are discussed below.

Positive Social Change

This basic qualitative study provides consequential data that may be extracted to enhance higher education environments, health care facilities, and the community. These variables may influence persistence and effect positive social change in the college environment, health care facilities, and in the community. Developing a comprehensive understanding of persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs will provide resourceful data on how faculty, staff, and administrators can improve student support services and enhance persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs, which ultimately impacts positive social change for students, the institution, health care facilities, and the community. This study provided data on why participants did not persist or persisted from enrollment to graduation in the 2-year radiologic technology program. The knowledge gained through this study may create awareness for higher education administrators so they can align these factors with the institution's mission, vision, and strategic initiatives. This knowledge and practice may create an economic impact in the local workforce and effect positive social change for radiologic technology students at the study site.

Positive social change within health care facilities is also possible because if more students persist to graduation, more qualified radiologic technologists can enter the workforce. As more baby boomers are aging and nearing retirement, there is an increased need for medical imaging personnel to care for these individuals and fill the vacancies within the health care environment. Higher education institutions can facilitate positive social change by creating collaborative learning opportunities for students that foster learning and autonomy, but also serve as a support system. These learning teams can increase students' knowledge and increase their connectedness to the institution. Additionally, institutions should provide counselors to discuss financial concerns before students are enrolled and during their time at the institution. Identifying available resources may help students effectively prepare for their education and alleviate some of their financial worries while enrolled in the institution. Finally, program faculty should foster an environment in which students have an active role in the learning process. If faculty teach students to think instead of how to think, self-efficacy may increase which is a strong influencer for persistence in higher education. Institutions must be mindful that students' needs may change semester to semester solidifying the need for a robust student support program. By supporting and encouraging radiologic technology students through graduation in a 2-year radiologic technology program, educators will be assisting students in educational and employment goals that may confidently lead them to become productive citizens in the community, thereby effecting positive social change.

Implications for Educational Practice

Implications of the study are that student persistence remains an issue. An effective tool in aiding the persistence of students in a 2-year radiologic technology program is the use of SmarterMeasure learning readiness assessment as part of the admissions process. SmarterMeasure is beneficial to the student and the institution as it helps identify any barriers to student success prior to enrolling in the program. As the institution and the student see the results of the assessment, additional resources and support services can be identified to help the student prepare for entering the program and eliminate any barriers. These resources and support services provide a proactive approach to student success and persistence and should be available throughout the student's educational program.

The requirement of shadowing a radiologic technologist as part of the application process may also affect persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs. Shadowing will provide prospective students' knowledge on the role and responsibilities of a radiologic technologist. Prospective students can also ask questions and learn more about the profession before investing in the program.

Reflections

I am a radiologic technologist, a life-long learner, and an educator in radiologic technology at a 2-year college. I am passionate about this study, which has illuminated reasons radiologic technology students did not persist or persisted from enrollment to graduation in a 2-year program. While completing this study, I did my best to avoid any biases. I dedicated time to reading, interviewing, coding, and interpreting the data without judging the participants.

This study has been a unique learning experience for me. I was pleased to understand the reasons why participants did not persist or persisted from enrollment to graduation. The participants provided rich information on their experiences while enrolled in the 2-year radiologic technology program. Financial issues, lack of support, student readiness issues, and personal issues were identified as deterrents to persistence.

Through this study, I gained a deeper awareness of how participants described their experiences in the 2-year radiologic technology program. Some participants felt a sense of inadequacy and unpreparedness, so when personal challenges arose, they did not have the support or resources to overcome these barriers. Other participants experienced personal challenges, but their internal motivations and high levels of autonomy, preparedness, connectedness, and self-efficacy drove them to persevere and persist to graduation.

Additionally, I acquired an appreciation of how the participants described the support from program faculty while enrolled in the 2-year radiologic technology

program. Faculty engagement and support impacted the participants, whether they persisted to graduation or not.

I was impressed with the willingness and dedication the participants demonstrated to complete the interviews. My observation regarding the amount of time required to complete the interview implied the participants were serious about the data and wanted it reflected in their responses. Moreover, this indicated that the participants considered my study to be worthwhile. Their responses provided me with the opportunity to collect, analyze, and expand on the rich data. I was grateful for the participants' commitment and cooperation to share their experiences with me. I am more knowledgeable and excited to make a positive change in the lives of students who aspire to enroll and attend a 2-year radiologic technology program.

Conclusion

Low persistence rates of 2-year radiologic technology students have been an issue for a long time. Although there has been an increase in the amount of research conducted on student persistence in allied health programs, there is still more work to do before student persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs is a non-issue. Other studies have shown that certain admission criteria may be helpful in identifying students who could be academically successful and persist, but it would be unwise to assume that this is the only solution for increasing persistence from enrollment to graduation in this population of students. The results of this study showed that the lack of persistence stems from a mix of lack of preparedness and lack of emotional, financial, and social support. Although students should take responsibility of their education, higher education institutions are also responsible for the success of its students. As shown in this study, the connections a student has with their peers, faculty, and to the institution positively affects persistence. Higher education institutions play an integral part in facilitating the connections between students and others during their educational journey. As the connections with peers, faculty, and the institution increase, students' confidence also increases. As confidence increases, autonomy and self-efficacy increases. This study highlighted the importance of autonomy and self-efficacy in student persistence. Within higher education, we all play a vital role in student success and persistence.

With the results of my study, I showed that student persistence is multifaceted. Every student has different needs, wants, experiences, and expectations. A one-size fits all approach to persistence will not suffice. I provided some results, but more research is needed to provide a holistic review of student persistence in 2-year radiologic technology programs.

References

Aljohani, O. (2016). A comprehensive review of the major studies and theoretical models of student retention in higher education. *Higher Education Studies*, 6(2), 1-18. https://dx.doi.org/10.5539/hes.v6n2p1

Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research. Journal of Cultural Diversity, 23(3), 121-127. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/library/p587/journal-of-cultural-diversity/i4017859/ vol-23-no-3-2016

- American Registry of Radiologic Technologists. (2019). *What do radiologic technologists do?* Retrieved from https://www.arrt.org/about-the-profession/learnabout-the-profession/what-do-radiologic-technologists-do
- Andermen, E. M., & Gray, D. (2015). Motivation, learning, and instruction. In N. J.
 Smelser & P. B. Baltas (Eds.), *International encyclopedia of the social and behavioral sciences* (2nd ed., pp. 928-935). St. Louis, MO: Elsevier.
- Arbeit, C. A., Horn, L., National Center for Education Statistics (ED), & RTI
 International. (2017). A profile of the enrollment patterns and demographic
 characteristics of undergraduates at for-profit institutions. Stats in Brief. NCES
 2017-416. National Center for Education Statistics. Jessup, MD: National Center
 for Education Statistics.
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York, NY: WH Freeman/Times Books/Henry Holt & Co.

- Bayer, A. (1968). The college drop-out: Factors affecting senior college completion. Sociology of Education, 41(3), 305-316. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.2307/2111878
- Bean, J. P. (1980). Dropouts and turnover: The synthesis and test of a causal model of student attrition. *Research in Higher Education*, *12*(2), 155-187.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00976194
- Bean, J. P. (1983). The application of a model of turnover in work organizations to the student attrition process. *Review of Higher Education*, 6(2), 129-148. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1353/rhe.1983.0026
- Bean, J. P., & Metzner, B. S. (1985). A conceptual model of nontraditional undergraduate student attrition. *Review of Educational Research*, 55, 485-540. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543055004485
- Bergman, M., Gross, J. P. K., Berry, M., & Shuck, B. (2014). If life happened but a degree didn't: Examining factors that impact adult student persistence. *Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 62(1), 90-101. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/07377363.2014.915445
- Bernardo, A., Esteban, M., Fernandez, E., Cervero, A., Tuero, E., & Solano, P. (2016).
 Comparison of personal, social and academic variables related to university dropout and persistence. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7(1), 1-9.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01610

- Boggs, G. R., Elsner, P. A., & Irwin, J. T. (2017). Global postsecondary education. New Directions for Community Colleges, 2017(177), 95-103. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1002/cc.20245
- Bohl, A. J., Haak, B., &Shrestha, S. (2017). The experiences of nontraditional students: A qualitative inquiry. *Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 65(3), 166-174. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/07377363.2017.1368663
- Burke, A. (2019). Student retention models in higher education: A literature review.
 College and University, 94(2), 12-21. Retrieved from
 https://www.questia.com/library/journal/1P4-2232610556/student-retention models-in-higher-education-a-literature
- Cabrera, A., Nora, A., & Castaneda, M. (1993). College persistence: Structural equations modeling test of an integrated model of student retention. *Journal of Higher Education*, 64(2), 123-139. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.1993.11778419
- Campbell, D., & Fiske, D. (1959). Convergent and discriminant validation by the multitrait-multimethod matrix. *Psychological Bulletin*, *56*(2), 81-105. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/h0046016
- Chen, K. C., & Jang, S. J. (2010). Motivation in online learning: Testing a model of selfdetermination theory. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26(1), 741-752. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.01.011
- Cherry, K. (2019, August 28). *What is self-determination theory?* Retrieved from https://www.verywellmind.com/what-is-self-determination-theory-2795387

- Chrysikos, A., Ahmed, E., & Ward, R. (2017). Analysis of Tinto's student integration theory in first-year undergraduate computing students of a UK higher education institution. *International Journal of Comparative Education and Development*, 19(2), 97-121. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1108/IJCED-10-2016-0019
- Conefrey, T. (2018). Supporting first-generation students' adjustment to college with high-impact practices. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025118807402
- Corwin, L. A., Runyon, C. R., Ghanem, E., Sandy, M., Clark, G., Gregory, C., Reichler,
 S., Rodenbusch, S. E., & Dolan, E. L. (2018). Effects of discovery, iteration, and
 collaboration in laboratory courses of undergraduates' research career intentions
 fully mediated by student ownership. *CBE-Life Sciences Education*, 17(2).
- Creswell, J. W. (1998). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2005). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating qualitative and quantitative research* (2nd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Davis, G. M., Hanzsek-Brill, M. B., Petzold, M. C., & Robinson, D. H. (2019). Students' sense of belonging: The development of a predictive retention model. *Journal of Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, 19(1), 117-127. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.14434/josotl.v19i1.26787
- Dawson, E. M. (2017). A qualitative study of minority radiologic science students' clinical experiences. *Radiologic Technology*, 88(6), 666-674. Retrieved from http://www.radiologictechnology.org/content/88/6.toc
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. Berlin, Germany: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Demo, D. H., Fry, D., Devine, N., & Butler, A. (2015). A call for action: Advocating for increased funding for the allied health professions. *Journal of Allied Health*, 44(1), 57-62. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/library/p61958/journal-of-allied-health/i4508916/vol-44-no-1-spring
- Donnell, W. (2015). A correlational study of a reading comprehension program and attrition rates of ESL nursing students in Texas. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *36*(1), 16-21. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.5480/13-1212
- Drake, J. K. (2011). The role of academic advising in student retention and persistence. *About College*, *16*(3), 8-12. https://doi.org/10.1002/abc.20062
- Dulfer, N., Rice, S., & Clarke, K. (2017). Student engagement, non-completion and pedagogy: Development of a measurement tool. *Australian Journal of Education*, 61(1), 40-53. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004944116685621

- Dumke, E. K., Tyndall, C., Naff, D., Crowder, A., & Cauley, K. M. (2018). A qualitative exploration of pre-health students' perceptions of academic success and persistence. *National Conference on Academic Advising Journal*, 38(2), 5-19. https://doi.org/10.12930/NACADA-16-031
- Elliott, D. C. (2016). The impact of self-beliefs on post-secondary transitions: The moderating effects of institutional selectivity. *Higher Education*, 71(3), 415-431. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10734-015-9913-7
- Ezequiel, S. (2016). Here come the baby boomers. *Journal of the American College of Radiology*, *13*(3), 242. https://doi.org10.1016/j.jacr.2015.12.002
- Feldman, K. A., & Newcomb, T. M. (1969). The impact of college on students. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Finnel, K. M. (2018). The association between pre-admission requirements on program completion of radiography students [ProQuest Information & Learning]. In *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences* (Vol. 79, Issue 11–A(E)).
- Flick, U. (2018). *An introduction to qualitative research* (6th ed.). London, UK: Sage Publications.
- Fong, C. L., Acee, T. W., & Weinstein, C. E. (2018). A person-centered investigation of achievement motivation goals and student achievement and persistence. *Journal* of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 20(3), 369-387. https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025116673374

Fong, C. J., Krause, J. M., Acee, T. W., & Weinstein, C. E. (2016). Motivation for staying in college: Differences between LEP (Limited English Proficiency) and Non-LEP Hispanic community college students. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, *15*(4), 340-357. https://doi.org/10.1177/1538192715607332

Gabow, P. A. (2016). Closing the health care gap in communities: A safety net system approach. *Academic Medicine*, *91*(10), 1337-1340. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1097/ACM.00000000001354

- Gagne, M., & Deci, E. L. (2005). Self-determination theory and work motivation. Journal of Organizational Behavior, 26(4), 331-362. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.322
- Galdas, P. (2017). Revisiting bias in qualitative research: Reflections on its relationship with funding and impact. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), 1-2. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917748992
- Gatrix, L., & Barrett, D. (2017). Desperately seeking consistency: Student nurses' experiences and expectations of academic supervision. *Nurse Education Today*, 48(1), 7-12. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.09.005
- Gaus, F. G. (2017). An interpretivism perspective of institutional practices on allied Health programs retention at public community colleges in Texas (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/1969.6/3803Periodical (journal)
- Godor, B. P. (2017). Academic fatalism: Applying Durkheim's fatalistic suicide typology to student drop-out and the climate of higher education. *Interchange: A Quarterly Review of Education*, 48(3), 257-269. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10780-016-9292-8

- Grolnick, W. S., Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1997). Internalization within the family:
 The self-determination theory perspective. In J. E. Grusec & L. Kuczynski (Eds.), *Parenting and children's internalization of values: A handbook of contemporary theory* (p. 135-161). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Guba, E. G. (1981). Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiries.
 Educational Resources Information Center Annual Review Paper, 29, 75-91.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02766777
- Hagaman, A. K., & Wutich, A. (2016). How many interviews are enough to identify metathemes in multisited and cross-cultural research? Another perspective on Guest, Bunce, and Johnson's (2006) landmark study. *Field Methods*, 29(1), 23-41. https://doi:org/10.1177/1525822X16640447
- Han, C., Farruggia, S. P., & Moss, T. P. (2017). Effects of academic mindsets on college students' achievement and retention. *Journal of College Student Development*, 58(8), 1119-1134. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1353/csd.2017.0089
- Hearn, J. C. (2015). *Outcomes-based funding in historical and comparative context* (Lumina issue papers). Indianapolis, IN: Lumina Foundation for Education.
- Heller, D. E. (2001). Financing a college education: How it works, how it's changing. *Journal of Higher Education*, 72(3), 370-372.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2001.11777100

Hittepole, C. (2019). Nontraditional students: Supporting changing student populations. Retrieved from

www.naspa.org/images/uploads/main/Hittepole_NASPA_Memo.pdf

Holloway, I., & Galvin, K. (2016). *Qualitative research in nursing and healthcare* (4th ed.). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell.

House, J., & Arnett, A. A. (2018, January 29). The state of retention and completion of higher education in 9 charts. Retrieved from https://www.educationdive.com/news/the-state-of-retention-and-completion-inhigher-education-in-9-charts/515382/

- Howard, J., Gagne, M., & Morin, J. S. (2016). Motivation profiles at work: A selfdetermination theory approach. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 95(1), 74-89. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2016.07.004
- Huang, Y. C., Backman, S. J., Backman, K. F., McGuire F. A., & Moore, D. (2019). An investigation of motivation and experience in virtual learning environments: A self-determination theory. *Education and Information Technologies*, 24(1), 591-611. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-018-9784-5
- Ingrassia, J. M. (2016). Successful admission criteria to predict academic and clinical success in entry-level radiography programs. *Radiologic Technology*, 87(5), 502-510. Retrieved from http://www.radiologictechnology.org/content/87/5/502.full

Introduction to SmarterMeasure. (2020). Retrieved from

http://www.smartermeasure.com/about/#:~:text=%20SmarterMeasure%20include s%20seven%20major%20assessment%20components%20which,Technical%20C ompetency%20-%20Skills%20using%20technology%20More%20

Jantzen, D. (2019). Refining nursing practice through workplace learning: A grounded theory. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 28(13/14), 2565-2576. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenlibrary.org/10.1111/jocn-14841

- Joint Review Committee on Education in Radiologic Technology. (2017). 2021 standards revision draft for radiography degree. Retrieved from https://www.jrcert.org/sites/jrcert2/uploads/documents/2014_Standards/2021_Sta ndards_Radiography_Degree_Draft_1_.pdf
- Joint Review Committee on Education in Radiologic Technology. (2019a). *About* JRCERT. Retrieved from https://www.jrcert.org/
- Joint Review Committee on Education in Radiologic Technology. (2019b). *Program Effectiveness Data: Accredited North Carolina Programs*. Retrieved from https://portal.jrcertaccreditation.org/accredited-educational-programs/search
- Jorgenson, D. A., Farrell, L. C., Fudge, J. L., & Pritchard, A. (2018). College Connectedness: The Student Perspective. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *18*(1), 75–95. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.14434/josotl.v18i1.22371

shortage/index.html

Kavilanz, P. (2018). The US can't keep up with demand for health aides, nurses, and doctors. Retrieved from https://money.cnn.com/2018/05/04/news/economy/health-care-workers-

Kerby, M. B. (2015). Toward a new predictive model of student retention in higher education: An application of classical sociological theory. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 17*(2), 138-161. https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025115578229

- Kinsey, J. (2017, August 23). *Introduction to student persistence*. Retrieved from https://www.colleiseducation.com/news/introduction-to-student-persistence/
- LaPelle, N. R. (2004). Simplifying qualitative data analysis using general purpose software tools. *Field Methods*, 16(1), 85-108. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1525822X03259227
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 4(3), 324-327. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Li, A. Y., & Zumeta, W. (2016). Performance funding on the ground: Campus responses and perspectives in two-states. New York, NY: Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America Institute.
- Lincoln, Y. S. & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Logan, M. L. (2017). Provisional admission in higher education: A case study in retention, persistence, and matriculation in academia. Ann Arbor, MI: Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Clark&pg=5&id=ED578548
- MacDonald, K. (2018). A review of the literature: The needs of nontraditional students in postsecondary education. *Strategic Enrollment Management Quarterly*, 5(4), 159-164. https://doi.org/10.1002/sem3.20115
- Manyanga, F., Sithole, A., & Hanson, S. M. (2017). Comparison of student retention models in undergraduate education from the past eight decades. *Journal of Applied Learning in Higher Education*, 7(1), 30-42. Retrieved from

https://www.missouriwestern.edu/appliedlearning/wp-

content/uploads/sites/116/2018/11/JALHE-7.pdf

- Markle, G. (2015). Factors influencing persistence among nontraditional university students. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 65(3), 267-285. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0741713615583085
- Marks, E. (1967). Student perceptions of college persistence, and their intellective, personality and performance correlates. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 58(4), 210. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/h0024941
- Marsh, L. (1966). College dropouts A review. *The Personnel and Guidance Journal*, 44(5), 475-481. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1002/j.2164-4918.1966.tb03549.x
- Mason, H. P. (1998). A persistence model for African American male urban community college students. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 22(8), 751-760. https://doi.org/10.1080/1066892980220804
- Menser, N. J. (2015). The perfect formula: Benchmarks that best predict retention in selective admissions programs (Order No. 10160810). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global: Social Sciences. (1842424499). Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.wku.edu/diss/87/

Menser, N. J., & Hughey, A. W. (2016). An examination of the efficacy of nontraditional admissions criteria on persistence to graduation among radiography students. *Radiologic Science & Education*, 21(1), 6-15. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.wku.edu/csa_fac_pub/72

- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Mihas, P. (2019). Qualitative data analysis. *Oxford Research Encyclopedias*. Retrieved from

https://oxfordre.com/education/view/10.1093/acrefore/9780190264093.001.0001/ acrefore-9780190264093-e-1195

- Narayan, A. (2011, August 15). U.S. higher education glossary. Retrieved from https://www.usnews.com/education/best-colleges/articles/2011/08/15/us-highereducation-glossary
- Naretto, J. A. (1995). Adult student retention: The influence of internal and external communities. *National Association of Student Personnel Administrators*, 32(2), 90-97. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ500861
- Nassaji, H. (2015). Qualitative and descriptive research: Data type versus data analysis. *Language Teaching Research*, *19*(2), 129-132. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1362168815572747
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2018). *The condition of education 2018*. Retrieved from

https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/pdf/Indicator_CTR/coe_ctr_2018_05.pdf

National Student Clearinghouse Research Center. (2017). *Retention and persistence*. Retrieved from https://nscresearchcenter.org/snapshotreport28-first-yearpersistence-and-retention/

Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research.

Evidence-Based Nursing, 18(1), 34-35. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054

- Osborn, P. (2016). Do college grads really earn more than high school grads? Retrieved from https://www.cornerstone.edu/blogs/lifelong-learning-matters/post/do-college-grads-really-earn-more-than-high-school-grads
- Panos, R., & Astin, A. W. (1968). Attrition among college students. American Educational Research Journal, 5(1), 57-72. https://doi.org/10.2307/1161701
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1983). Predicting voluntary freshman year persistence/withdrawal behavior in a residential university: A path analytic validation of Tinto's model. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 75(2), 215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.75.2.215
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (2005). *How college affects students: A third decade of research* (2nd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Perkins-Holtzclaw, K. J., & Lampley, J. (2018). Relationships between institutional characteristics and student retention and graduation rates at SACSCOC level III institutions. *Journal of Academic Administration in Higher Education*, 14(2), 1-8. Retrieved from https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/3357/
- Prentice, M., Jayawickrema, E., & Fleeson, W. (2018). Integrating whole trait theory and self-determination theory. *Journal of Personality*, 87(1), 56-69. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/jopy.12417

- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Reeve, J. (2002). Self-determination theory applied to educational settings. In E. L. Deci & R. M. Ryan (Eds.)., *Handbook of self-determination research* (p. 183-203).
 Rochester, NY: University of Rochester Press.
- Rizkallah E. G., & Seitz, V. (2017). Understanding student motivation: A key to retention in higher education. *Scientific Annals of Economics and Business*, 64(1), 45-57. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1515/saeb-2017-0004
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd.
 ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Rump, M., Esdar, W., & Wild, E. (2017). Individual differences in the effects of academic motivation on higher education students' intention to drop out. *European Journal of Higher Education*, 7(4), 341-355. https://doi.org/10.1080/21568235.2017.1357481
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68-78. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2015). *Self-determination theory*. International Encyclopedia of the Social and Behavioral Sciences (2nd ed.), 486-491. St. Louis, MO: Elsevier.
- Sass, D., Castro-Villarreal, F., Wikerson, S., Guerra, N., & Sullivan, J. (2018). A structural model for predicting student retention. *Review of Higher Education*, 42(1), 103-135. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1353/rhe.2018.0035

- Selingo, J. (2012). The rise and fall of the graduation rate. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 58(27). Retrieved from https://www.chronicle.com/article/the-rise-and-fall-of-the-graduation-rate/
- Schmitt, M. A., & Duggan, M. H. (2011). Exploring the impact of classified staff interactions on student retention: A multiple case study approach. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 35(3), 179-190. https:// doi.org/ 10.1080/10668926.2011.525191
- Simon, R. A., Aulls, M. W., Dedic, H., Hubbard, K., & Hall, N. C. (2015). Exploring student persistence in STEM programs: A motivational model. *Canadian Journal* of Education, 38(1), 1-27. https:// doi.org/10.2307/canajeducrevucan.38.2.13
- Singh, J. (2019). The lean prescription for non-traditional adult learners. *Quality* Assurance in Education, 27(3), 347-359. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1108/QAE-09-2018-0100
- Smith, V. D., & Darvas, J. W. (2017). Encouraging student autonomy through higher order thinking skills. *Journal of Instructional Research*, 6(1), 29-34. https:// doi.org/10.9743/JIR.2017.5
- Sogunro, O. A. (2015). Motivating factors for adult learners in higher education. International Journal of Higher Education, 4(1), 22-37. https:// doi: 10.5430/ijhe.v4n1p22
- Soria, K. M., Laumer, N. L., Morrow, D. J., & Marttinen, G. (2017). Strengths-based advising approaches: Benefits for first-year undergraduates. *National Conference* on Academic Advising (NACADA) Journal, 37(2), 55-65. Retrieved from

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1164575.pdf

- Spady, W. (1970). Dropouts from higher education: An interdisciplinary review and synthesis. *Interchange*, *1*(1), 64-85. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02214313
- Spady, W. (1971). Dropouts from higher education: Toward an empirical model. *Interchange*, 2(3), 38-62. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02282469
- Su, J., & Waugh, M. L. (2018). Online student persistence or attrition: Observations related to expectations, preferences, and outcomes. *Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, 16(1), 63-70. Retrieved from http://www.ncolr.org/issues/jiol/v16/n1/4/
- Summers, M. D. (2003). Attrition research at community college attrition. *Community College Review*, *30*(4), 64-84. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/009155210303000404

- Summerskill, J. (1962). Dropouts from college in The American college: A psychological and social interpretation of the higher learning (pp. 627-657). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Terenzini, P. T., & Pascarella, E. T. (1977). Voluntary freshman attrition and patterns of social and academic integration in a university: A test of a conceptual model.
 Research in Higher Education, 6(1), 25-43. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00992014
- The Center for Law and Social Policy. (2015). Yesterday's non-traditional student is today's traditional student. *Center for Postsecondary and Economic Success*. Retrieved from http://www.clasp.org/resources-and-publications/publication-1/CPES-Nontraditional-students-pdf.pdf

Tinto, V. (1975). Dropout from higher education: A theoretical synthesis of recent

research. *Review of Educational Research*, *45*(1), 89-125. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543045001089

Tinto, V. (1993). Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition (2nd ed.). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Tinto, V. (1997). Colleges as communities: Exploring the educational character of student persistence. *Journal of Higher Education*, 68, 599-623. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.1997.11779003

- Tinto, V. (2005). Epilogue: Moving from theory to action. In A. Seidman (Ed.). College student retention: Formula for student success. Westport, CT: ACE/Praeger.
- Tinto, V. (2012). Completing college: Rethinking institutional action. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Tracy, S. J. (2019). Qualitative research methods: Collecting evidence, crafting analysis, communicating impact (2nd ed.). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Trusclair, L. (2017). Motivating allied health students to successfully complete core courses (Order No. 10277422). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Walden University; ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1896531154). Retrieved from https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/3640/
- United States Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2018). Occupational outlook handbook. Retrievedfromhttps://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/radiologictechnologists.htm#tab-6
- United States Department of Education. (2015). *Fact sheet: Focusing higher education on student success*. Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/fact-

sheet-focusing-higher-education-student-success

- United States Department of Education (2016). *Federal Student Aid, Annual Report FY* 2016. Washington, D.C.
- Walker, L. P. (2016). A bridge to success: A nursing student success strategies improvement course. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 55(8), 450-453. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3928/01484834-20160715-05
- World Health Organization. (2013). Global health workforce shortage to reach 12.9 million in coming decades. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2013/health-workforceshortage/en/
- Wright, C., Lenette, C., Lewis-Driver, S., & Lamar, S. (2017). The revised 'Common Time' program as a strategy for student engagement and retention at university. *Student Success Journal*, 8(1), 79-86. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.5204/ssj.v8i1.354
- Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Appendix A: Interview Questions

The following is a list of interview questions that were asked of the former student participants, who did not persist from enrollment to graduation, in the study:

1. How did you come to be a student in this 2-year radiologic

technology program.

- 2. Why did you choose to apply for this or any radiologic technology program?
- 3. Please discuss your experiences through your first year at the College.
- 4. Discuss any challenges you may have faced during your time in the program?
- 5. What resources did you use while in the program?
- 6. If you utilized any resources, how did they impact your learning and/or success in the program?
- 7. What types of activities did you like to participate in on campus?
- 8. How often did you spend studying with other students in the program?
- 9. How was the program different than or the same as you expected when you were accepted into the program?
- 10. How many hours a week did you work while enrolled in the program?
- 11. Describe what you like about the program and why you liked it.
- 12. Explain what you did not like or would like to change about the program.
- 13. What do you think the College or faculty could have done to better help you as a student?
- 14. What was your reason for leaving this 2-year radiologic technology

program?

- 15. Why do you think other students leave this College before completing the radiologic technology degree program?
- 16. What do you think would improve student persistence from enrollment to graduation?
- 17. What else would you want me to know about your experiences at this College?

The following is a list of interview questions that were asked of the former student participants, who persisted from enrollment to graduation, in the study:

- 1. How did you come to be a student in this 2-year radiologic technology program?
- 2. Why did you choose to apply for this or any radiologic technology program?
- 3. Please discuss your experiences through your first year at the College.
- 4. Discuss any challenges you may have faced during your time in the program?
- 5. How did you overcome these challenges?
- 6. What resources did you use while in the program?
- 7. If you utilized any resources, how did they impact your learning and/or success in the program?
- 8. What types of activities did you like to participate in on campus?
- 9. How often did you spend studying with other students in the program?
- 10. How was the program different than or the same as you expected when

you were accepted into the program?

- 11. How many hours a week did you work while enrolled in the program?
- 12. Describe what you like about the program and why you liked it.
- 13. Explain what you did not like or would like to change about the program.
- 14. What do you think the College or faculty could have done to better help you as a student?
- 15. What was your reason for staying in this 2-year radiologic technology program?
- 16. Why do you think other students leave this College before completing the radiologic technology degree program?
- 17. What do you think would improve student persistence from enrollment to graduation?
- 18. What else would you want me to know about your experiences at this College?

Research Question	Themes by Research Question	Emerging Ideas
1. What are the	1. Financial Issues	Financial Issues
students' perceptions of why		• Self-supporting
they did not persist from		• Lack of funds to pay for
enrollment to graduation in 2-		housing
year radiologic technology		 Lack of funds to pay for
programs in a metropolitan area		bills/utilities
of the southern United States?		 Lack of funds to pay for food
		• Lack of funds to pay for college
	2. Lack of Support	Lack of Support
		 Lack of encouragement from family and friends
		Parents did not support
		going to collegeFriends did not support
		education Isolation from friends
		 Lack of emotional
		support from family and friends
	3. Student Readiness	Student Deediness Januas
	Issues	No extra time to commit
		fo educationFull load required/need
		all courses in curriculum
		• Difficulty adjusting to coursework and clinical
		• Lack of confidence
		• Did not research conege, program, or profession of
		Radiologic Technology
		• First time on campus was first day of class
	4. Personal Issues	Personal Issues
		• Had to work
		Medical issues
		Needed surgery
		• Anxiety
		Depression
		• Death of family member

Appendix B: Themes by Research Questions

2. What are the students' perceptions of what helped them persist from enrollment to graduation in 2-year radiologic technology programs in a metropolitan area of the southern United States?	1. Autonomy	Autonomy In control of education Self-motivated Knows the end-goal Achievement/success Obtain a career/job
	2. Preparedness	 Preparedness Transferred credits into college Visited the college campus Shadowed technologist in Radiology Department Attended college Information Session Met with member of the Admission's team/recruiter
	3. Connectedness	 Connectedness Positive support and encouragement to pursue education from family and friends Support from classmates Support from program faculty Positive social interactions with others Emotional closeness with others Participated in college
	4. Self-efficacy	 events Self-efficacy Confidence in learning abilities Assertive in interactions with technologists in clinical Proud of performance and accomplishments Self-respect Belief in ability to succeed